

In partnership with





WHO guideline on school health services



In partnership with



WHO guideline on school health services

WHO guideline on school health services

ISBN 978-92-4-002939-2 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-002940-8 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for noncommercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. WHO guideline on school health services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/ bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

Foreword	vii
Acknowledgements	іх
Abbreviations and acronyms	xi
Glossary	xiii
Executive summary	xv
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Child and adolescent health burden and needs	2
1.2 SHS in the context of school health and HPS	6
1.3 The need for guidance on SHS	8
1.4 Target audience of the WHO guideline on SHS	9
1.5 Objective and scope of the WHO guideline on SHS	9
2. Guideline development process	11
2.1 Governance and management structures	12
2.2 Declarations of interest and management of conflicts of interest	12
2.3 Collaboration with external partners	12
2.4 Managing group processes and decision-making	13
2.5 Confidentiality	13
3. Methods	14
3.1 Key Questions	15
3.2 Health areas and types of SHS activity	15
3.3 Overview of guideline development methodology	16
3.4 Systematic overview and systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS	17
3.5 Development of menu and compendium of interventions	22
4. Recommendation	25
4.1 Recommendation, rationale and implementation considerations	26
4.2 Summary of evidence	27
4.3 Evidence-to-decision process	30

5. Me	enu and compendium of interventions	33
	5.1 Rationale for the menu and compendium of interventions	34
	5.2 Full wording of the interventions	38
	5.3 Final intervention categorization and WHO sources of the interventions	45
6. Im	plementation of the WHO guideline on SHS	46
	6.1 Dissemination of the WHO guideline on SHS	47
	6.2 National adaptation of the WHO guideline on SHS	48
	6.3 Further guidance and research needed	56
	6.4 Updating the WHO guideline on SHS	57
Refe	rences	58
Anne	ex GRADE methodologist, Guideline Development Group and External Review Group: affiliations, areas of expertise, and conflict of interest management	71

Web Annexes (in press)

Web Annex A.	Compendium of interventions with WHO evidence
Web Annex B.	Brief exploratory review of school health services globally: methodology and select findings
Web Annex C.	Systematic overview of systematic reviews of comprehensive school health services: methodology and select findings
Web Annex D.	Systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive school health services: methodology
Web Annex E.	Systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive school health services: evidence summaries
Web Annex F.	Systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive school health services: GRADE evidence profiles and evidence-to-decision table
Web Annex G.	Survey of expert opinion on school health services: methodology and select findings
Web Annex H.	Menu of interventions with WHO sources

Tables, figures and boxes

Table 1.	Overview of global standards for HPS	7
Table 2.	Population, intervention and comparator for the systematic reviews of effectiveness and acceptability of SHS	18
Table 3.	Critical and important outcomes for the systematic review of the effectiveness of SHS	19
Table 4.	Critical and important outcomes for the systematic review of the acceptability of SHS	20
Table 5.	SHS recommendation evidence-to-decision table: questions, judgements by GDG subgroup and rationales	30
Table 6.	SHS guideline menu of interventions by health area, type of health service activity and GDG categorization	35
Table 7.	Full wording of the 87 interventions categorized as essential or suitable within SHS, by location	38
Table 8.	Number of interventions by WHO source and GDG categorization as essential, suitable or unsuitable within SHS, by location	45
Table 9.	Simplified example of how the guideline and its menu and compendium of interventions can be used when considering interventions for inclusion within a national SHS programme	54
Table A.1.	GRADE methodologist	71
Table A.2.	Guideline Development Group	72
Table A.3.	External Review Group	73

Fig. 1.	Global estimates of top-five causes of death for school-age children and adolescents, by sex and age group, 2016	3
Fig. 2.	Global estimates of top-five causes of YLD for school-age children and adolescents, by sex and age group, 2016	4
Fig. 3.	Overview of global standards for HPS	7
Fig. 4.	Methodology used to develop the SHS guideline recommendation and menu of interventions	16
Fig. 5.	An organizational model of SHS	49
Fig. 6.	Steps in setting intervention priorities for national SHS	51

BOX 1.	Key highlights from global reviews of national SHS programmes	8
BOX 2.	Key terms in this guideline	10
BOX 3.	Understanding the WHO sources of interventions	24
BOX 4.	Recommendation, rationale, summary of evidence-to-decision judgements and implementation considerations	26
BOX 5.	Interventions that are unsuitable for inclusion within SHS	44
BOX 6.	Use of digital technology to support dissemination and implementation of the guideline	47
BOX 7.	Resources for prioritizing interventions within national SHS programming	50
BOX 8.	How SHS can increase health equity	52
BOX 9.	Hypothetical example of how to use the menu and compendium of interventions while developing national SHS programming	53
BOX 10.	A selection of WHO resources for more in-depth guidance on evidence-based interventions	55

Foreword

Schools are essential for young people to acquire knowledge, socioemotional skills including selfregulation and resilience, and critical thinking skills that provide the foundation for a healthy future. Access to education and safe and supportive school environments have been linked to better health outcomes. In turn, good health is linked to reduced drop-out rates and greater educational attainment, educational performance, employment and productivity.

WHO has long recognized the link between health and education and the potential for schools to play a central role in safeguarding student health and well-being. In 1995, WHO launched the Global School Health Initiative, which aimed to strengthen approaches to health promotion in schools. Among those approaches, pairing children with health services occupies an important place.

Many health conditions can be better managed or prevented if detected early. The school environment and school health services provide an opportunity for timely interventions across a range of conditions, including anxiety and depression, behavioural disorders, diabetes, overweight, obesity and undernutrition.

There are many reasons why school health services are uniquely placed to contribute to the health and well-being of school-age children. First, they operate where most children are, and they have access to families. Secondly, they are free at the point of use and overcome barriers such as transport issues, limited community services, and inconvenient location or appointment systems, and therefore have the potential to better serve underprivileged populations. And thirdly, they can have a positive effect on multiple determinants of health and are highly valued by students, parents and communities. But despite all these advantages, school health services have long been overlooked and have not received the deserved attention by researchers, policy-makers and development partners.

This first WHO guideline on school health services helps to fill that gap, with a strong recommendation for the implementation of comprehensive school health services. This recommendation comes at a unique time in history, when COVID-19 has put so sharply in the spotlight the vital link between health and education. While we are still learning the full extent of the health effects of mass school closures, we know that they have resulted in anxiety, depression and mental distress, inability to access the usual points of care, disruption to physical activity and routine, increased child maltreatment and exposure to the dangers of the unregulated digital environment. These problems are not unique to COVID-19 - the pandemic has only exacerbated problems that already existed. This makes it all the more important that adequately resourced and well implemented school health services are in place to provide a safety net for children.

I hope that this WHO guideline on school health services will contribute to the creation of a common language around school health services, will promote evidence-based care through its menu of interventions, will strengthen school nursing and school health professions around the world, and ultimately will improve the health of children. The evidence suggests that if school health services are implemented well, they will have lasting benefits for students.

Tedros Adhanom

Director-General, World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

Drafting of the guideline

Mary Louisa Plummer, Child and Adolescent Health Consultant, United States of America, and David A. Ross, Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing, WHO headquarters.

GRADE Methodologist

Nandi Siegfried, Public Health Medicine Specialist, South Africa. See the Annex for more information about the GRADE Methodologist.

Steering Group (WHO staff unless otherwise noted)

Coordination

David Ross and Kid Kohl, Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing.

Members

Jamela Al-Raiby, WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean; Wole Ameyan, Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes; Valentina Baltag, Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing; Faten Ben-Abdelaziz, Department of Health Promotion; Paul Bloem, Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals; Sonja Caffe, WHO Regional Office for the Americas; Marie Clem Carlos, Department of Noncommunicable Diseases; Shelly Chadha, Department of Noncommunicable Diseases; Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli, Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research; Katrin Engelhardt, Department of Nutrition and Food Safety; Kaia Engesveen, Department of Nutrition and Food Safety; Regina Guthold, Department

of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing; Joanna Herat, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO); Symplice Mbola Mbassi, WHO Regional Office for Africa; Rajesh Mehta, WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia; Denise Mupfasoni, Department of Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases; Martina Penazzato, Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes; Marina Plesons, Department of Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research; Leanne Riley, Department of Noncommunicable Diseases; Chiara Servili, Department of Mental Health and Substance Use; Stéphanie Shendale, Department of Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals; Marcus Stahlhofer, Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing; Howard Sobel, WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific; Martin Weber, WHO Regional Office for Europe; and Juana Willumsen, Department of Health Promotion.

Evidence review and synthesis

Systematic overview of systematic reviews of comprehensive school health services

Julia Levinson, Kid Kohl, Valentina Baltag and David Ross.

Systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive school health services

Paul Montgomery, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom; Jacoby Patterson, Independent Senior Research Consultant, United Kingdom; and Anders M. Bach-Mortensen, University of Oxford, United Kingdom.

Review of Global WHO health service interventions for 5–19-year-olds

Mary Plummer, Kid Kohl and David Ross.

Survey of expert opinion on school health services

Mary Plummer; Ace Chan, Stigma and Resilience Among Vulnerable Youth Centre (SARAVYC), School of Nursing, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada; Kid Kohl; Ashley Taylor (SARAVYC); Elizabeth Saewyc (SARAVYC); and David Ross.

Brief exploratory review of school health services globally

Mary Plummer, Kid Kohl and Valentina Baltag.

Guideline Development Group

Rima Afifi, University of Iowa, United States of America; Habib Benzian, New York University, United States of America; Harriet Birungi, Population Council, Kenya; Rashida Ferrand, Biomedical Research and Training Institute, Zimbabwe; Jorge Gaete, Universidad de Ios Andes, Chile; Najat Gharbi, Ministry of Health, Morocco; Murthy Gudlavalleti Venkata Satyanarayana, Indian Institute of Public Health, India; Henrica J. M. Fransen, University of Tunis El Manar, Tunisia; Julia Levinson, Boston University, United States of America; Erin D. Maughan, National Association of School Nurses, United States of America; Ella Cecilia Naliponguit, Department of Education, Philippines; Atif Rahman, University of Liverpool, United Kingdom; Elizabeth Saewyc (Chair), University of British Columbia, Canada; Susan Sawyer, University of Melbourne, Australia; Hui-Jing Shi, Fudan University, China; and Sharlen Vigan, World Bank, Togo. See the Annex for more information about the Guideline Development Group members.

External Review Group

Bruce Dick, Adolescent Health Consultant, Switzerland; Chris Kjolhede, Bassett Health Care Network, United States of America; Regina Lee, Professor of Nursing, University of Newcastle, Australia; Maziko Matemvu, Her Liberty, Malawi; Antony Morgan, Glasgow Caledonian University, United Kingdom; Blanca Pianello Castillo, International Federation of Medical Students' Associations, Spain.

See the Annex for more information about the External Review Group members.

Financial support

The United Kingdom Department for International Development, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation and the United States Agency for International Development.



Abbreviations and acronyms

Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents
confidence interval
declaration of interest
female genital mutilation
Focusing Resources on Effective School Health
Guideline Development Group
Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
GRADE Confidence in the Evidence from Reviews of Qualitative research
Guideline Review Committee
home, education, employment, eating, activity, drugs, sexuality, safety, suicidal thinking and depression status
high-income country/countries
health-promoting school
low- and middle-income country/countries
lower respiratory infection

mhGAP	Mental Health Gap Action Programme
NGO	nongovernmental organization
OR	odds ratio
PA	procedure or activity
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses
ROBINS-I	Risk Of Bias In Non-Randomized Studies of Interventions
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SHS	school health services
UHC	universal health coverage
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
YLD	years lived with disability



Glossary

Comprehensive SHS: the operational definition of "comprehensive SHS" within this guideline is school health services that address at least four – but ideally all – health areas relevant to their student population, including: positive health and development; unintentional injury; violence; sexual and reproductive health, including HIV; communicable disease; noncommunicable disease, sensory functions, physical disability, oral health, nutrition and physical activity; and mental health, substance use and self-harm (these health areas are shown in section 3.2 and Chapter 5).

Critical outcomes: outcomes that are critical when formulating recommendations during the GRADE process (1,2). Also see "Important outcomes".

GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation): a transparent framework for developing and presenting summaries of evidence; GRADE provides a systematic approach for making clinical practice recommendations (1).

Guideline Development Group (GDG): a group of experts external to WHO whose central task is to develop evidence-based recommendations for WHO guidelines (2).

Guideline Review Committee (GRC): WHO global and regional staff and external experts who review guideline proposals and draft WHO guidelines to ensure they are of high quality, are developed using a transparent and explicit process and, to the extent possible, that their recommendations are based on evidence (2).

Health counselling: face-to-face, personal communication intended to promote well-being and prevent health problems. Through an interactive process, a health worker helps a client to make decisions about their health and behaviours and then to act on them.

Health education: intentionally created opportunities for learning involving communication designed to improve health literacy. For example, health education may follow a curriculum in a formal classroom setting or may take place with a group of children in a clinic. Also see "Health literacy".

Health literacy: represents the personal knowledge and competence that accumulate through daily activities, social interactions and across generations. Personal knowledge and competence are mediated by the organizational structures and resources that enable people to access, understand, appraise and use information and services to promote and maintain good health and well-being for themselves and those around them.

Health promotion: the process of enabling individuals to increase control over, and to improve, their health. It moves beyond a focus on individual behaviour towards a wide range of social and environmental interventions. Health promotion can happen formally or informally, in a group or one-on-one and in a clinical setting or at a broader level (including social mobilization and advocacy).

Health worker: a person whose main function is to deliver health promotion, prevention, care and/or treatment services, such as a nurse or clinical psychologist, but not a teacher.

Health-promoting school (HPS): a school that constantly is strengthening its capacity as a healthy setting for living, learning and working. The WHO HPS framework is a holistic, whole-school and comprehensive approach to health promotion that capitalizes on the organizational potential of schools to foster the physical, social and psychological conditions for health. As part of a health-promoting education system, a HPS is described by eight global standards: government policies and resources, school policies and resources, school governance and leadership, school and community partnerships, school curriculum, school social-emotional environment, school physical environment, and school health services (3). Importantly, staff delivering on some of these standards may overlap; for instance, a health worker may support a teacher who is teaching a health education curriculum.

Important outcomes: outcomes that should be taken into consideration during the GRADE process, but are not critical for decision-making and recommendation formulation (*1,2*). Also see "Critical outcomes".

Intervention: a combination of health service programme elements or strategies designed to assess, improve, maintain, promote or modify health, functioning or health conditions.

SHS interventions that the GDG categorized as:

Essential everywhere:

should be included in SHS everywhere.

Suitable everywhere: are appropriate, but not essential, in SHS everywhere.

Essential/suitable in certain areas: are essential and/or appropriate in SHS in certain geographic areas only.

UNSUITABLE:

are not appropriate for inclusion in SHS (inclusion in other types of health service may be appropriate).

Mental health counselling: evidence-based psychological interventions such as cognitive behavioural therapy, problem-solving approaches or motivational interviewing. Also see "Health counselling".

Positive development: healthy transitions and growth in childhood and adolescence, including healthy physical, sexual, cognitive and psychosocial development (4).

Preventive intervention: a health intervention to prevent illness, disease or injury. Preventive interventions can include screening, check-ups and health counselling to prevent health problems.

Procedure or activity (PA): a specific course of action taken as part of a broader health service intervention. Also see "Intervention".

School health services: services provided by a health worker to students enrolled in primary or secondary education, either within school premises or in a health service situated outside the school premises that has an official agreement with the school to provide health services to the school's students.

School health services

Coverage:

is the proportion of a student population that needs SHS and obtains them in a timely manner and at a level of quality necessary to have the desired effect and potential health gains (5).

Equity:

is the absence of avoidable, unfair or remediable differences within a student population. It implies that all students should have a fair opportunity to use SHS and no one is disadvantaged from doing so. More broadly, SHS may promote health equity by enabling disadvantaged students to receive health care they may not otherwise receive (6).

Quality:

is the degree to which SHS increase the likelihood of desired student health outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge (7). **School-linked SHS:** SHS that are provided outside of school premises by facilities and/or providers who have a formal agreement with the school administration to provide health services to their students/learners.

Screening: medical tests to check for diseases and health conditions before there are any signs or symptoms, followed by care or referral, as appropriate. Often this refers to universal screening or routine enquiry, that is, asking all patients in all health-care encounters.

Support: provision of supportive care following the guidance of another health service, such as a student's personal doctor or specialist. For example, in this capacity a school health worker would not take primary responsibility for case management, but might administer or supervise the taking of medications, change wound dressings or provide supportive counselling.

Universal health coverage (UHC): all individuals and communities receive the health services they need without suffering financial hardship. UHC includes the full spectrum of essential quality health services, from health promotion to prevention, treatment, rehabilitation and palliative care (6).

WHO source: within this guideline, WHO source is defined as whether and how a health service intervention, procedure or activity for 5–19-year-olds is supported by a global WHO publication. This support or approval may be general, not specifically specified for SHS.

If an intervention has a WHO source of:

Full GRC support:

all aspects of the intervention are supported by a GRC-approved guideline.

Partial GRC support:

some – but not all – aspects of the intervention are supported by a GRC-approved guideline. (In addition, some or all aspects of the intervention may be supported by "other WHO" publications.)

Other WHO support:

some or all aspects of the intervention are supported by other (not GRC-approved) global WHO publications.

No WHO source identified:

no supporting procedures or activities have been found in global WHO publications; or a GRCapproved recommendation specifically states that the intervention should not be done.

Executive summary

Recommendation

Comprehensive school health services should be implemented.

Strength of recommendation: strong.

Certainty of evidence: moderate.

Rationale: this recommendation is strong because:

- all evidence consistently points in a beneficial direction, including evidence related to acceptability and equity;
- the evidence suggests that if school health services are implemented well – they will have lasting benefits for students;
- the overall certainty of the evidence in the systematic reviews is moderate;
- although there were no studies in low- and middle-income countries that provided highcertainty evidence, the observational studies that took place in low- and middle-income countries also identified benefits and did not identify significant harms; and
- schools offer a compelling, broad and relatively convenient opportunity to reach children and adolescents with needed comprehensive health services.

Implementation considerations

- This recommendation is for comprehensive school health services that have adequate resources and are implemented well.
- School health services need to be implemented with quality, fidelity and over the long term. The resource implications must be carefully identified, examined and met.
- In practice, implementation will be variable. In some settings it may be difficult and/or not yet feasible to implement comprehensive school health services similar to those that the systematic reviews found were evaluated in controlled studies in high-income countries. Substantial resources, time and leadership may be needed to achieve this. In many low- and middle-income countries it may nonetheless be feasible to implement some aspects of comprehensive school health services now, even if not yet all aspects.
- Protecting student confidentiality is paramount, and school health workers are also obliged to prevent possible discrimination or stigma towards students.

This recommendation is based on evidence and a decision-making process that are outlined below and in greater detail in the main text of the guideline and its accompanying Web Annexes A–H.



Background

School health services (SHS), as defined in this guideline, are services provided by a health worker to students enrolled in primary or secondary education, either within school premises or in a health service situated outside the school. Most countries have some form of SHS, but many such programmes currently are not evidence-based, are not implemented well, are underfunded and/or are delivered with limited reach and scope (8). In all WHO regions, school-age children and adolescents (those aged 5–19 years) experience a range of largely preventable health problems, including unintentional injury, interpersonal violence, sexual and reproductive health issues, communicable diseases, noncommunicable diseases and mental health issues. In addition, school-age children and adolescents have positive physical, sexual, psychosocial and neurocognitive health and development needs as they progress from childhood to adulthood. The need for quality health care for 5-19-year-olds is great, but globally the quality of health services for them are variable and coverage is limited. Schools offer a unique opportunity to implement effective health services at scale for children and adolescents.

Health-promoting schools (HPS) promote health through six pillars: a school's policies, physical environment (including school feeding/ meals programmes), social environment, health curriculum, involvement with the community and health services. In 1995, WHO launched the Global School Health Initiative, which has a goal to improve child, adolescent and community health through HPS. HPS have been found to be effective in improving several aspects of student health (9), but establishing them with high coverage, quality and sustainability has proved challenging in many countries. Importantly, while collaboration between education and health sectors (and other sectors and stakeholders) is a widely held ideal and desirable for all HPS pillars, such collaboration and interdisciplinary work is indispensable within SHS, which require medical expertise and collaboration at all levels of the system.

Recently, WHO, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) and other United Nations partners launched the "Making Every School a Health Promoting School" initiative, with the objective of strengthening the capacity of the education sector to integrate health and wellbeing considerations and promote health through a whole-school approach (10). As part of the initiative, global standards for HPS and systems have been established, including one standard that sets the requirement for access to comprehensive schoolbased or school-linked health services that address students' physical, emotional, psychosocial and educational health-care needs (3).

This WHO guideline on SHS aims to provide national governments and other stakeholders with detailed guidance on the effectiveness, acceptability and content of comprehensive SHS involving a health worker.

Three Key Questions underpinned the development of this guideline.

- Are comprehensive SHS effective in improving health outcomes or in increasing coverage of health services for school-age children and adolescents? This includes effectiveness in economic studies (cost-saving, cost-benefit and/or cost-effectiveness).
- 2. Are comprehensive SHS *acceptable* to stakeholders, such as school-age children and adolescents, parents and caregivers, teachers and policy-makers?
- 3. What should be the *content* of comprehensive SHS in different contexts?

The **primary target audience** for this SHS guideline is government policy-makers and programme managers and private (for-profit and not-forprofit) stakeholders in the health and education sectors responsible for the health and well-being of 5–19-year-olds attending schools or similar educational establishments. The box provides an overview of the content of this guideline and how to use it.

BOX How to use this guideline

National government stakeholders and other stakeholders can use this guideline in developing and improving SHS policies and programmes.

FIRST: consider the guideline recommendation that **comprehensive SHS should be implemented**, and the evidence base supporting it.

Using this guideline, national stakeholders can consider the rigorous evidence that comprehensive SHS can be effective and acceptable (Chapter 4 and Web Annexes D–F). This evidence is the basis for the guideline recommendation above. National government stakeholders can use this evidence-based recommendation to support their efforts to develop and implement comprehensive SHS in their countries.

SECOND: use the menu of interventions and the evidence base in its supporting compendium to guide SHS intervention selection.

Using this guideline, national stakeholders can review the evidence base for possible interventions to be included within their national SHS policies and programming. Specifically, national stakeholders can review the menu of interventions (see the table, Chapter 5 and Web Annex H) and the evidence base in its supporting compendium (Web Annex A) when considering which interventions should be included within their national SHS. The menu provides an at-a-glance overview of 87 interventions organized by health area, type of health activity, WHO source and categorization as essential or suitable in SHS, by location. The compendium details the published WHO evidence base related to each of the 87 interventions. Readers can review the sources cited there for further information.

THIRD: prioritize and implement interventions within national SHS policy and programming.

National stakeholders can draw on this guideline as they consider how to integrate SHS within broader national health strategies, what kind of organizational model of SHS to implement and how to prioritize and select interventions to include within SHS (Chapter 6).



Methods

This guideline was developed according to WHO standard procedures (2). An independent external Guideline Development Group (GDG), comprising geographically dispersed and gender-balanced representatives across different sectors, led the formulation of the recommendation and menu of interventions, with the support of an internal WHO and UNESCO Steering Group (see the Annex).

Given SHS consist of diverse possible combinations of services - and this guideline is one of the first global guidance documents to address SHS - only one overarching recommendation is provided; it addresses Key Questions 1 and 2. In addition, to address Key Question 3, this guideline provides practical information on many specific interventions that can be considered for implementation within comprehensive SHS. Importantly, these interventions have not been evaluated through the standard process used to identify recommendations for WHO guideline inclusion. Instead, the specific interventions were assessed through an innovative process involving a review of global WHO guidance documents, an expert survey of intervention priorities and GDG categorization of interventions. These different methodologies are summarized below. Substantial background information and evidence is provided for each intervention, but they are not formal guideline recommendations.

To assess SHS effectiveness and acceptability (Key Questions 1 and 2), a series of research exercises were conducted that built upon each other, as follows.

- 1. A systematic overview of systematic reviews of the effectiveness of comprehensive SHS (Web Annex C).
- 2. Systematic reviews of the (1) effectiveness and (2) acceptability of comprehensive SHS (Web Annex D). These systematic reviews screened the titles and abstracts of 8966 records for potential eligibility, after which 443 full-text articles were assessed for eligibility. In total, 18 high-quality controlled studies were eligible and included in the review. Because all of these were from high-income countries (HIC), the review also included 19 supplementary observational studies in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC).
- 3. Evidence synthesis through a Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) process (Web Annex F), including generation of evidence summaries and profiles.

4. Recommendation formulation by the GDG through a GRADE/WHO evidence-to-decision process (Web Annex F) to assess the certainty of the evidence and strength of the recommendation (2).

To assess SHS content (Key Question 3), an innovative methodology was developed to assess the potential content and relative importance of interventions within comprehensive SHS. This process involved a series of exercises that built upon each other, as follows.

- 1. Review of global WHO guidance documents: a review of 149 WHO publications that identified 531 health service procedures or activities (PAs) for 5–19-year-olds.
- 2. Expert survey preliminary ranking of interventions (Web Annex G): PAs were grouped into an initial list of 86 interventions, which 442 experts in school health representing 81 nationalities ranked in a survey on their relative suitability for inclusion within SHS. The survey respondents also had the option to make additional intervention suggestions.
- 3. GDG final ranking of interventions: based on the expert survey findings (including their additional suggestions) and further GDG review and prioritization exercises, the GDG identified and ranked a final list of 87 interventions as essential or suitable for inclusion within SHS, either everywhere or in certain geographic areas only.
- 4. Creation of a menu and a compendium of interventions: the 87 interventions were compiled within an at-a-glance menu categorized by health area, type of health activity and final GDG ranking (see the table). Web Annex H provides an expanded version of this menu with the WHO source of each intervention. "WHO source" is based on the review of WHO guidance documents and refers to whether an intervention is: fully supported by one or more publications that have been approved by the WHO's Guideline Review Committee (GRC); partially supported by one or more GRC-approved publications; or supported in one or more other global WHO publications. Relevant excerpts from WHO publications related to each of the 87 interventions are detailed with citation information in a compendium in Web Annex A.

Results: recommendation

Eighteen controlled studies in HIC were the main evidence source for the systematic reviews. Such sources will have only limited applicability to LMIC, so an additional 19 observational studies from LMIC (11 quantitative and eight qualitative) were included. These 37 studies provided the evidence for the following recommendation.

Comprehensive school health services should be implemented in schools.

This is a *strong recommendation,* based on *moderate certainty* of evidence.

The operational definition of "comprehensive SHS" in this guideline is SHS that address at least four – but ideally all – health areas relevant to their student population: positive health and development; unintentional injury; violence; sexual and reproductive health, including HIV; communicable disease; noncommunicable disease, sensory functions, physical disability, oral health, nutrition and physical activity; and mental health, substance use and self-harm.

When developing this recommendation, the GDG highlighted that higher-quality studies, such as randomized controlled trials or non-randomized controlled studies of SHS effectiveness and acceptability, should be a future research priority in LMIC.

Results: menu of interventions

Table ES.1 shows the menu of interventions the GDG identified as being essential or suitable for inclusion within SHS organized by health area, type of health activity and specific GDG categorization. Web Annex H provides an expanded version of this menu with the WHO source of each intervention. The table and Web Annex H provide a simplified overview. Importantly, many interventions could have been placed in multiple cells of the menu, but for the sake of simplicity and clarity, only one cell has been selected for each intervention. Also, summary names of interventions have been used in this menu; the full, precise wording of each intervention is given in Chapter 5. This at-a-glance menu is linked to a compendium in Web Annex A that details the published global WHO evidence base and specific procedures or activities for each of the 87 interventions.



Table. SHS guideline menu of interventions by health area, type of health service activity and GDG categorization

GDG categorization of interventions as essential or suitable within SHS, by location

Category formatting Essential everywhere Suitable everywhere Essential/suitable in certain areas		Definition Should be included in SHS everywhere Appropriate, but not essential, in SHS everywhere Essential and/or appropriate in SHS in certain geo	Definition Should be included in SHS everywhere Appropriate, but not essential, in SHS everywhere Essential and/or appropriate in SHS in certain geographic areas only	nic areas only			
			Type of sch	Type of school health service activity			
Health area	1. Health promotion	2. Health education	 Screening leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	 Preventive interventions (such as immunizations and mass drug administration) 	 Clinical assessment leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	6. Health services management	7. Support for other pillars of a health- promoting school
a. General/cross- cutting	I-01. Promotion of care-seeking I-02. Promotion of health literacy	I-16. Support for health-promoting curriculum	I-27. Ensure assessment of compliance with school entry requirements I-28. Routine preventive health check-ups	1	 1-56. Provision of first aid 1-57. Administration of medications 1-58. Referral and support for pain management 1-59. Referral and support for non-specific symptoms 	 1-25. Use of population- level data to plan school health services 1-26. Use data on school health services improvement improvement 1-60. Implementation of risk-management plan 	 I-T. Support for policies on health promotion I-B. Support for other aspects of health- promoting schools I-19. Support for policies on disease/injury prevention I-23. Training of school staff I-24. Inspection of school environment I-77. Referral and support for child carers
b. Positive health and development	I-07. Promotion of appropriate use of electronic devices I-08. Promotion of adequate sleep I-10. Promotion of parenting skills	1	1	1	 1-30. Identification of developmental disabilities 1-44. Counselling related to development 1-43. Psychosocial intervention for well-being 1-45. Support for caregiver related to a child's development 	1	1
c. Unintentional injury	1	I-48. Provision of education to prevent unintentional injury	1	1	I-70. Referral and support for injury I-71. Referral and support for burns I-72. Referral and support for drowning	1	1
d. Violence	1	I-49. Provision of education to prevent violence	1	1	 1-50. Counselling to prevent violence 1-73. Referral and support for victims of violence 	'	1

τ	J
÷	-
Ω	_
C	D
Č	J
0	D
C	2
ζ)

<u>⊇</u> :	
.≥	
с	
activit	
e e	
÷	
5	
h service	
Ħ	
ĕ	
4	
0	
2	
Ivpe of school	
÷	
0	
e	
2	

	7. Support for other pillars of a health- promoting school	1	1	I-21. Support for policies on anaphylaxis
	6. Health services management	1	I-63. Management of infectious disease outbreaks	1
A	 Clinical assessment leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	 I-51. Contraceptive counselling I-52. Counselling on sexually transmitted infection prevention I-54. Referral and support for HIV prophylaxis I-55. Referral and support for pregnancy I-73. Referral and support for sexually transmitted infection I-53. Referral and support for voluntary medical male circumcision 	 I-61. Referral and support for common infections I-62. Referral and support for less common infections I-64. Referral and support for HIV - infected children 	 I-65. Referral and support for anaemia I-66. Referral and support for overweight I-67. Referral and support for asthma I-68. Referral and support for chronic conditions other than HIV, anaemia and asthma I-68. Referral and support for disability I-46. Counselling on nutrition and physical activity
Type of school health service activity	 Preventive interventions (such as immunizations and mass drug administration) 	1	I-38. Immunizations for all children I-40. Immunizations for children in high-risk populations <i>I-39. Immunizations for</i> <i>children in certain regions</i> <i>I-41. Mass drug</i> <i>administration</i>	1-42. Micronutrient supplementation
Type of scho	 Screening leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	1	1-36. Screening – infectious diseases	I-31. Screening - vision problems I-32. Screening - hearing problems I-33. Screening - oral health problems I-34. Screening - nutrition problems I-35. Screening - diabetes
	2. Health education	I-15. Provision of sexual and reproductive health education	1	I-13. Provision of nutrition education I-14. Provision of physical activity education
	1. Health promotion	I-09. Promotion of menstrual hygiene management	I-03. Promotion of personal hygiene <i>I-12. Promotion of insecticide-treated bed nets</i>	I-04. Promotion of oral health care I-05. Promotion of reduced sugar I-06. Promotion of increased physical activity I-11. Promotion of appropriate sun exposure
	Health area	e. Sexual and reproductive health, including HIV	f. Communicable disease	g. Noncommunicable disease, sensory functions, physical disability, oral health, nutrition and physical activity

D
Ē
8
<u>e</u>
<u>a</u>
P

Type of school health service activity	7. Support for other pillars of a health- promoting school	I-18. Support for policies on mental health I-22. Support for policies on builying
	6. Health services management	1
	 Clinical assessment leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	 I-29. Conduct HEADSSS assessments I-47. Counselling on substance use I-76. Provide short-term or crisis counselling I-78. Referral and support for behavioural disorders I-79. Referral and support depressive disorders I-80. Referral and support for eating disorders I-80. Referral and support for support for support for support for support for support for support for substance use I-81. Referral and support for substance use I-82. Referral and support for substance use I-86. Referral and support for substance dependence I-87. Referral and support for substance withdrawal
	 Preventive interventions (such as immunizations and mass drug administration) 	1
	 Screening leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	I-37. Screening - mental health concerns
	2. Health education	1
	1. Health promotion	1
	Health area	h. Mental health, substance use and self harm

Note: each of the 87 interventions is categorized in the menu by health area, type of health activity, and final GDG ranking as essential or suitable within school health services, by location. Importantly, many interventions could be placed in multiple menu cells, but for clarity, one cell is selected for each intervention. Also, for the sake of brevity, summary names of interventions have been used in this matrix; full, precise names are given in Chapter 5. Web Annex H (Menu of interventions with WHO sources) and Web Annex A (Compendium of interventions with WHO evidence) provide more detailed information about each intervention.

HEADSSS: home, education, employment, eating, activity, drugs, sexuality, safety, suicidal thinking and depression status (assessment).

Chapter 1

Introduction



1.1 Child and adolescent health burden and needs

Great advances have been made in improving the health of children and adolescents in recent decades. Around the world, reduced mortality rates and improved nutrition among children and adolescents, as well as lowered fertility rates among adolescent girls, are examples of tremendous progress (11–15).

Despite these successes, substantial child and adolescent disease and injury burdens persist. In each WHO region, children and adolescents continue to experience a range of major health problems, including unintentional injury, interpersonal violence, sexual and reproductive health issues, communicable diseases, noncommunicable diseases and mental health issues, as well as risk behaviours related to them (such as the use of tobacco and alcohol, unhealthy diet and physical inactivity). Road injury is a top-five cause of death in both sexes and across all age subgroups of school-age children, and lower respiratory infections (LRIs) and diarrhoeal diseases are top-five causes of death among most subgroups (Fig. 1). Other conditions are top-five causes of death among certain subpopulations only, such as drowning among boys and young men aged 5–19 years, malaria among 5–9-year-old girls and boys and 10–14-year-old girls, HIV/AIDS among 10–14-yearold girls and 10–19-year-old males, self-harm among 15–19-year-old females and males, interpersonal violence among 15–19-year-old males and maternal conditions among 15–19-year-old females.





Fig. 1. Global estimates of top-five causes of death for school-age children and adolescents, by sex and age group, 2016

Note: data are organized from the overall highest to lowest causes of death rates (total for all sexes/age groups), for the top-five causes within each sex/age group. For example, at a rate of 60.0 deaths per 100 000 population, road injury is the highest cause of death rates for all school-aged children (5–19 years); in contrast, meningitis and tuberculosis both have rates of 4.8 deaths per 100 000 population and as such are the lowest among the 11 causes shown.

Source: WHO (14).

Global progress in reducing the non-fatal disease burden has also been limited. Estimated years lived with disability (YLD) – a measure that aims to capture the amount of time lived in states of less than good health – show that skin diseases, irondeficiency anaemia, anxiety disorders and childhood behavioural disorders are top-five causes of YLD among most subgroups (Fig. 2). Some conditions, however, are top-five causes of YLD among certain subpopulations only, such as congenital anomalies and uncorrected refractive errors among 5–9-yearold girls, asthma among 5–9-year-old girls and boys, migraines among 10–19-year-old girls and 15–19-year-old boys, autism and Asperger syndrome among 5–14-year-old boys and depressive disorders among 15–19-year-olds of both sexes. Unlike mortality, where 15–19-year-old boys and young men experience the highest death rates, YLD rates are particularly high for 15–19-year-old girls and young women.

Importantly, where conditions are not seen in Fig. 1 and 2 for a specific subpopulation of children and adolescents, it does not mean that that condition does not cause YLD or death in large numbers or at high rates among that subpopulation, but simply that it is not among the subpopulation's top-five causes of YLD or of death.



Fig. 2. Global estimates of top-five causes of YLD for school-age children and adolescents, by sex and age group, 2016

Note: (a) YLD are an estimate of the burden of disease due to disability; they are calculated by multiplying the incidence of a disorder by its duration and a weight factor that reflects the severity of the disability it causes on a scale from 0 (perfect health) to 1 (dead) to estimate the short- or long-term loss of health associated with that disability. (b) Data are organized from the highest to lowest causes of rates of YLD overall (total for all sexes/age groups), for the top-five causes within each sex/age group. For example, at a rate of 3718 YLD per 100 000 population, iron-deficiency anaemia is the highest cause of YLD for all school-aged children (5–19 years). In contrast, at a rate of 196 YLD per 100 000 population, uncorrected refractive errors (top of one column) are the lowest among the 10 causes shown.

Source: WHO (14).

Across the world, some subpopulations of children and adolescents are particularly vulnerable. They experience higher exposure to health risks, lower access to health services, worse health outcomes and greater social consequences as a result of ill health (16). Underlying these inequalities are factors such as sex, income, education and rural or urban residence. Effectively addressing the health needs of children and adolescents therefore requires interventions that target the structural and intermediary social determinants of health and wellbeing, among others. Improving the quality, coverage and equity of SHS can be an important step towards achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) that were set by the United Nations General Assembly in 2015, such as ensuring healthy lives and promoting well-being for all at all ages (SDG 3), achieving gender equality and empowering all women and girls (SDG 5), and reducing inequalities within and among countries (SDG 10).

All school-age children also have positive physical, sexual, psychosocial and neurocognitive health and development needs as they progress from childhood to adulthood (4). The period of growth from 5–19 years is critical for the development of skills and behaviours that enable children and adolescents to navigate their environment effectively, relate well with others, perform well and achieve their goals. In addition to addressing health problems, it therefore is important for health care to focus on factors that support child and adolescent positive health and well-being; this is in keeping with a salutogenic and positivedevelopment approach that focuses on supporting healthy transitions, growth and behaviours (17). For example, school-age children can benefit from different forms of health education, such as curricula focused on nutrition, physical activity, hygiene or reproductive and sexual health. They also can benefit from different forms of health promotion, such as participatory activities focused on well-being (18), health-seeking behaviours (seeking appropriate treatment for a health problem) or the so-called 5 Cs (competence, confidence, connection, character and caring) (4). Similarly, as children experience changes during puberty, they may have questions or health-care needs related to maturation, female hygiene (including menstrual hygiene) and male hygiene (19). Adolescent-friendly health services, including adolescent-friendly SHS, are designed to address such issues in accessible, acceptable and appropriate ways (20).



1.2 SHS in the context of school health and HPS

Schools have an extraordinary potential to provide intensive, long-term and large-scale health programmes to children and adolescents (8). Globally, most children and adolescents are enrolled in school, and an increasing proportion of students continue enrolment from primary to secondary school. The global adjusted net primary and secondary school enrolment rates' are 89% and 66%, respectively (21–23). A system of SHS therefore may be the only institutional way to meet the health needs of the majority of school-age children and adolescents on an almost daily basis (24). Operating in an educational setting, SHS are well placed to exploit the inextricable link between health and education.

SHS operate in a broader context of school health that was articulated by WHO in 1995 with the launch of the Global School Health Initiative. The Initiative had the goal to improve child, adolescent and community health through multifaceted health programming in schools (25). Further expanded in 2000 through the partnership for Focusing Resources on Effective School Health - a FRESH Start approach (26,27), it supported countries to develop school health programmes and increase the number of HPS, defined as "schools that constantly strengthen their capacities as healthy settings for living, learning and working" (28). Importantly, effectively addressing child and adolescent health needs in a HPS requires evidence-based interventions that directly target health and well-being, as well as interventions that focus on the structural and intermediary social determinants of health and well-being (29). HPS initiatives have been shown to be capable of improving health-related behaviours, such as physical activity, physical fitness, fruit and

vegetable intake, preventing tobacco use and preventing bullying (9). Interventions delivered through schools, including deworming, insecticidetreated bed net promotion, tetanus toxoid and human papillomavirus vaccination, oral health promotion, vision screening and provision of spectacles, micronutrient supplementation, multifortified foods and school feeding interventions, offer excellent cost-effectiveness and very high benefit-cost ratios (30). Investments in the health and education of adolescents generate economic and social benefits ranging from 6- to 12-fold returns on investment (31).

Increasing access to comprehensive SHS is one of the new eight global standards for HPS. While HPS have been found to be effective, establishing them with high coverage, quality, equity and sustainability has proved challenging in many countries (9,32), mainly due to poor integration of health and health promotion into education systems (10). In 2017, the Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!) Guidance recognized this gap and called for school health programmes to be prioritized as an important step towards universal health coverage (UHC), urging that, "Every school should be a health promoting school" (4). To support this goal, in 2018 WHO and UNESCO launched the "Making Every School a Health Promoting School" initiative (10), in collaboration with other United Nations entities, such as the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). As part of the initiative, global standards and implementation guidance for HPS have been developed (3,33). The eight global standards relate to one another to comprise a HPS system that recognizes the important role of SHS (Fig. 3).



¹ The net school enrolment rate is the number of students of official school age who are enrolled in education as a percentage of the total children of the official school-age population.

The eight global standards for HPS, are intended to function as a system (Fig. 3 and Table I). The standards are intentionally aspirational, looking towards progressive realization of a vision for healthy schools.

Fig. 3. Overview of global standards for HPS



Table 1. Overview of global standards for HPS



1.3 The need for guidance on SHS

While the FRESH partnership and other partners produced clear, evidence-based guidance for some components of HPS (34-37), guidance on SHS is scarce (38-43). It is important therefore that the global standard on SHS is reinforced by a guideline supported by a rigorous review of the literature and implementation experience. **Global and regional overviews of SHS** have shown that while most countries have some form of SHS, many such programmes are not evidence-based, are not implemented well, are underfunded and/or are delivered with limited reach and scope (8,44). SHS are often omitted in national whole-school programmes (Box 1, Web Annex B).

BOX 1. Key highlights from global reviews of national SHS programmes

- School-based or school-linked health services exist in at least 102 countries (8). Most commonly, they provide vaccinations, sexual and reproductive health education, vision screening, nutrition screening and nutrition education. Important interventions, including the provision of mental health services and injury and violence prevention interventions, are not given sufficient consideration in routine SHS provision.
- Typically, SHS are provided within school premises by dedicated school health personnel (8).
- Most commonly reported challenges that SHS face include staff shortages, high workloads, lack of training and continuing professional education opportunities, and low motivation of school health personnel. In addition, inadequate coordination among multiple service providers or sectors (in particular, health and education) is reported frequently, as well as inadequate financing and quality of care issues (8).
- Even when national SHS frameworks reiterate a whole-school approach to health, they sometimes marginalize or omit the SHS component (Web Annex B).

- The extent of SHS programmes in countries may vary from minimal, teacher-delivered interventions, to occasional visits by a health worker (usually a nurse, sometimes a medical officer), to a fairly comprehensive SHS programme provided with high coverage by nurses based either full- or part-time in schools or by a team of health workers in school-based health centres (Web Annex B).
- Despite recognition of the importance of collaboration between the education and health sectors, the fundamentally intersectoral nature of SHS poses challenges. An analysis of case studies from eight countries – Australia, Bangladesh, Egypt, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Rwanda, South Africa, Turkey and the United States of America – found that in practice the implementation of SHS fell to one lead sector (education or health). In settings where SHS essentially were only led and implemented by the education sector, SHS interventions were extremely limited and typically were carried out by lay people without clinical training (Web Annex B).

1.4 Target audience of the WHO guideline on SHS

The primary target audience for the WHO guideline on SHS is government policy-makers and programme managers and private (for-profit and not-for-profit) stakeholders in the health and education sectors responsible for the health and well-being of 5–19-year-old students attending schools or similar educational establishments. Secondary audiences will include academics, implementers (such as school health workers), other school staff (like managers, administrators and teachers) and students.

1.5 Objective and scope of the WHO guideline on SHS

The objective of this guideline is to provide national governments and other stakeholders with detailed guidance on the effectiveness, acceptability and content of SHS involving a health worker. The guideline is intended to support national governments and national and international partners in their efforts to develop effective, evidence-informed SHS programmes to better meet the health and development needs of school-age children and adolescents.

The scope of this guideline is services provided by a health worker to students enrolled in primary or secondary education, either within school premises or in a health service situated outside the school. Specifically, this guideline provides:

1. a recommendation based on rigorous evidence that comprehensive SHS can be effective and acceptable;

- 2. a menu of interventions that could potentially be included within SHS with supporting WHO sources; notably:
 - a. these interventions have been categorized by SHS experts as **essential in SHS everywhere**, suitable in SHS everywhere or *essential or suitable in SHS in certain geographic areas*; and
 - b. this categorization was developed based on findings from a global survey of SHS experts and further refinement and prioritization by the GDG; and
- 3. guidance on prioritization for national governments as they consider which interventions are most important to meet their particular SHS programming needs.



The guideline does not address other aspects of HPS that do not involve a health worker, such as health education provided by a teacher in class. Importantly, it also does not suggest a one-sizefits-all approach to SHS. It broadly is applicable to different delivery systems, such as school-based versus school-linked, or using a team of differently trained health workers versus a single cadre of health worker. It does not, however, provide specific recommendations about the content or delivery of SHS, as this will depend on the context and resources available, including the broader health system and existing services.

The guideline is expected to be part of a series of detailed global guidance documents on school health, including SHS programming and implementation. More broadly, it is hoped that it will help achieve specific SDG targets, including, but not limited to:

- ending the epidemics of AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria and neglected tropical diseases; combatting hepatitis, waterborne diseases and other communicable diseases; reducing premature mortality from noncommunicable diseases through prevention, treatment and promotion of mental health and well-being; strengthening the prevention and treatment of substance abuse; and achieving UHC (SDG 3); and
- eliminating all forms of violence against women and girls (such as sexual exploitation); eliminating all harmful practices (including child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilation); and ensuring universal access to sexual and reproductive health and reproductive rights (SDG 5).

Box 2 shows key terms as defined in this guideline; further explanation and definitions are provided in the glossary.

BOX 2. Key terms in this guideline

A health worker is a person whose main function is to deliver health promotion, prevention, care and/or treatment services, such as a nurse or clinical psychologist, but not a teacher.

SHS are provided by a health worker to students enrolled in primary or secondary education, either within school premises or in a health service situated outside the school premises that has an official agreement with the school to provide health services to the school's students.

Comprehensive SHS: the operational definition of comprehensive SHS within this guideline is that

SHS include interventions in four or more of the seven health areas specified in section 3.2 and Chapter 5. Comprehensive SHS should address at least four – but ideally all – health areas relevant to their student population, including: positive health and development; unintentional injury; violence; sexual and reproductive health, including HIV; communicable disease; noncommunicable disease, sensory functions, physical disability, oral health, nutrition and physical activity; and mental health, substance use and self-harm.

Chapter 2

Guideline development process



2.1 Governance and management structures

A **Steering Group** was established to provide overall technical support to the guideline development process. The group was led by the WHO Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing, with representatives from other relevant WHO departments and programmes, the six WHO regional offices and UNESCO. The Steering Group proposed experts with technical knowledge related to school health and expertise in evidence review and synthesis to be invited to be part of the GDG.

The GDG was made up of academics, public health professionals and clinicians not working for any United Nations organization who, between them, had multidisciplinary expertise in school health, adolescent health and child health. Consideration was given to geographic diversity and gender balance. A Chair of the GDG was appointed from within the membership of the GDG to facilitate and guide the discussions of members, clarify their viewpoints and summarize issues that emerged from discussion.

Two external experts independently reviewed the guideline proposal before it was submitted to the WHO GRC. An **External Review Group** of five members was appointed to provide peer review of the content of the draft guideline.

The Annex lists all members of the GDG and the External Review Group, with gender, nationality and/or country of residence and institutional affiliation.

2.2 Declarations of interest and management of conflicts of interest

To comply with WHO's Conflict of Interest Policy, the Steering Group followed the revised *Guidelines for declaration of interests (WHO experts) (45).* Declarations of interest (Dol) were requested from:

- all GDG members;
- all experts and external partners involved in the evidence review process;
- all experts and external partners involved in guideline development and drafting; and
- all experts and external partners invited to review evidence profiles and the draft guideline.

A letter requesting completion of a Dol form and submission of a curriculum vitae was sent to all potential GDG members before they were appointed. They were asked to agree to the publication of a summary of declarations in the guideline. Once received, the Steering Group reviewed the Dol forms and additional information (such as Internet and bibliographic database searches) and evaluated if there were any conflicts of interest. No significant conflicts were identified, so no further action was required. At each meeting, members of the GDG were given the opportunity to update or amend their declaration. Any member of the GDG was free to comment or express concern about declared interests of another group member. No significant conflicts were identified throughout the process (see the Annex).

2.3 Collaboration with external partners

The Stigma and Resilience Among Vulnerable Youth Centre at the University of British Columbia, Canada, supported the development of the guideline by administering the survey of expert opinion and conducting preliminary analysis of the survey data.

2.4 Managing group processes and decision-making

Three GDG meetings were held during the guideline development and decision-making processes. There were two in-person meetings in Geneva, Switzerland, in May and October 2019, and one global virtual meeting in April 2020. Originally, the third meeting was also planned to be in-person, but after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic it was instead held as a series of three two-hour virtual sessions for both western and eastern hemisphere subgroups. It was necessary to hold subgroup sessions separately to accommodate different time zones around the world. GDG members and Steering Committee members selected which subgroup they wished to join and then participated only in the meetings of that subgroup. Only the GDG Chair, the GRADE Methodologist and two WHO Secretariat members attended all subgroup sessions.

Prior to each of the three GDG meetings, members received detailed background documents for review. This information was also summarized in presentations during each meeting prior to the GDG Chair and/or the GRADE Methodologist facilitating the GDG's discussion and decision-making. During the third meeting, the GDG Chair only substantively contributed to discussions, and voted, within the sessions of Subgroup 1. Consensus was considered to be agreement among the members of the GDG when all members indicated their support for a decision and/or recommendation, including its phrasing. There was a protocol for voting in the event of disagreement, with a 60% majority considered sufficient, but in practice this was not required to decide any of the guideline's Key Questions.

2.5 Confidentiality

All members of the GDG, the External Review Group and the evidence-review and synthesis teams were asked to complete and sign the standard WHO agreement for confidentiality. In addition, GDG members were reminded of the confidentiality requirement at each meeting.


Chapter 3

Methods



3.1 Key Questions

Three Key Questions informed the development of this guideline.

- Key Question 1. Are comprehensive SHS effective in improving health outcomes or in increasing coverage of health services for school-age children and adolescents? This included effectiveness in economic studies (cost-saving, cost-benefit or cost-effectiveness).
- Key Question 2. Are comprehensive SHS acceptable to stakeholders, such as school-age children and adolescents, parents, teachers and policy-makers?
- Key Question 3. What should be the *content* of comprehensive SHS in different contexts?

3.2 Health areas and types of SHS activity

Seven broad **health areas** are defined and used in this guideline (see Chapter 5). These were adapted from the health areas used in the *Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!) Guidance (4)*. The seven health areas are:

- a. positive health and development;
- b. unintentional injury;
- c. violence;
- d. sexual and reproductive health, including HIV;
- e. communicable disease;
- f. noncommunicable disease, sensory functions, physical disability, oral health, nutrition and physical activity; and
- g. mental health, substance use and self-harm.

Comprehensive SHS, as operationally defined in this guideline, are SHS that include interventions from at least four of the seven health areas above.

This definition was developed to distinguish comprehensive SHS from narrowly focused health service interventions that happen to be delivered within a school (such as vaccination or deworming campaigns).

This guideline also defines and uses seven types of SHS activity (Chapter 5), as follows:

- 1. health promotion;
- 2. health education;
- screening (leading to care and/or referral and support, as appropriate);
- preventive interventions (such as immunizations and mass drug administration);
- 5. clinical assessment (leading to care and/or referral and support, as appropriate);
- 6. health services management; and
- 7. support for other pillars of a HPS.

3.3 Overview of guideline development methodology

This guideline was developed according to WHO standard procedures for developing guidelines (2). A WHO guideline recommendation is developed through a complex process of systematic review and evidence assessment. Given SHS consist of diverse possible combinations of services – and this guideline is one of the first global guidance documents addressing SHS – only **one overarching recommendation** is provided; it addresses Key Questions 1 and 2.

In addition, to address Key Question 3, this guideline provides practical information on many specific interventions that can be considered for implementation within comprehensive SHS. Importantly, these interventions have not been evaluated through the standard process used to identify recommendations for WHO guideline inclusion. Instead, the specific interventions were assessed and categorized through **an innovative process** involving a review of evidence and recommendations in global WHO guidance documents, an expert survey for preliminary categorizations of interventions, and a final SHS GDG categorization of interventions. Substantial background information and evidence is provided for each intervention and its categorization, but they are not formal guideline recommendations.

Fig. 4 provides an overview of the steps taken to answer the three key research questions during guideline development.

Fig. 4. Methodology used to develop the SHS guideline recommendation and menu of interventions



3.4 Systematic overview and systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS

The overview and systematic reviews in this section were conducted using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) approach (Web Annex D) (46).

Systematic overview of systematic reviews of the effectiveness of comprehensive SHS: the starting point for the WHO guideline on SHS was a systematic overview of systematic reviews. The systematic overview identified 20 systematic reviews and found SHS to be effective across a number of health domains, including depression and anxiety, obesity, oral health and sleep (47). These systematic reviews of SHS focused on the effectiveness of school-based interventions within a single health domain, although some systematic review authors suggested that SHS should be comprehensive (indeed, SHS often cover multiple health areas (48)). Web Annex C outlines the methods and select findings from the systematic overview. This systematic overview of systematic reviews presents multiple effective interventions that may be offered as a part of SHS delivered by a health provider. However, to formulate an overarching answer about the effectiveness of comprehensive SHS for improving the health of school-age children and adolescents, two new systematic reviews were conducted.

Systematic reviews of the effectiveness and

acceptability of comprehensive SHS: two systematic reviews were conducted to assess Key Questions 1 and 2 on the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS (49). Both systematic reviews began by defining the four elements of the question – population, intervention, comparator and outcome (2).

At its first meeting in May 2019, the GDG considered different methods for synthesizing and evaluating the systematic review evidence. The GDG discussed and agreed to use GRADE, which assesses the certainty or the quality of the body of evidence across studies for each outcome (*1,50*). The GDG also considered using WHO-INTEGRATe evidence, which is a tool for transparently reporting evidence-to-decision frameworks (*51*). It was decided, however, not to use INTEGRATe at the time when these systematic reviews were being designed, because there was no prior experience of using WHO-INTEGRATe for guideline development.

The initial systematic review search identified 8523 records, after removal of duplicates. The screening and review procedures are summarized in Web Annex D, which also provides a detailed description of the methodology of these systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS.



3.4.1 Population, intervention and comparator

Table 2 details the population, intervention and comparator for the systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS. Papers were included only if the SHS had been delivered or supervised by a health worker, and excluded if the service was delivered by trained teachers without the involvement of a health worker. For the purpose of the systematic reviews, as in the guideline, "comprehensive SHS" were defined as those having interventions within at least four health areas (section 3.2 and Chapter 5).

Table 2. Population, intervention and comparator for the systematic reviews of effectiveness and acceptability of SHS

Measure	Characteristics
Population	Children (5–9 years) and/or adolescents (10–19 years) enrolled in schools
Intervention	The intervention must have had the following characteristics:
	 school-based or school-linked health services;
	 included studies must have investigated the effectiveness of a SHS that includes interventions for at least four health areas (see section 3.2);
	• based on the numbering of the seven types of SHS activities used in section 3.2:
	 the intervention must have used at least one "clinical" strategy from: (3) screening; (4) preventive interventions (such as immunization and mass drug administration); and/or (5) clinical assessment (leading to care and/or referral and support, as appropriate, including support for chronic health conditions, such as provision or supervision of medications);
	 this may have been with or without interventions related to: (1) health promotion; (2) health education; (6) health services management; and/or (7) support for other pillars of a HPS (such as health-related school policies, school ethos/safe learning environment and skills-based health education);
	 delivered by or supervised by a full- or part-time health worker;^a within the context of SHS, a health worker was defined as a health or allied professional who provides dedicated services to school-going learners (services that are not available to other population groups), irrespective of the site where services are provided
Comparator	Any comparator (such as SHS versus no SHS, different type of SHS, and similar programme delivered through a community-based general or child/adolescent clinic) or no comparator

^a The service must have been delivered or supervised within the SHS by a health worker. If it was delivered only by trained teachers and was not supervised by a health worker, it was excluded.

3.4.2 Effectiveness outcomes

Critical and important outcomes were agreed between the review team and the Steering Group and were endorsed by the GDG, following the definitions given by the WHO GRC, in which **critical outcomes** are those that are critical when formulating recommendations and **important outcomes** are those that should also be taken into consideration but are not critical for decision-making (2). Critical effectiveness outcomes were defined as improvement in outcomes related to shortterm mortality or morbidity that would otherwise require acute major health service expenditure or improvement in key educational metrics. Important effectiveness outcomes were defined as those affecting chronic morbidity, the academic climate or SHS coverage. The specific critical and important effectiveness outcomes that were considered are shown in Table 3.

Outcomes	Characteristics
Critical effectiveness outcomes	Outcomes related to short-term mortality or morbidity that would otherwise require acute major health service expenditure or key educational metrics: • suicide-related outcomes, including ideation, plans, gestures and attempts • hospitalization • emergency department visits • school absence • academic performance (such as grade-point average)
Important effectiveness outcomes	Outcomes affecting chronic morbidity, the academic climate or SHS coverage: violence sexual health physical activity health complaints quality of life mental health substance use (tobacco, alcohol or drug use) academic expectations school engagement coverage
Critical economic effectiveness outcomes	 Cost saving Cost-benefit ratio Cost-effectiveness ratio

Table 3. Critical and important outcomes for the systematic review of the effectiveness of SHS

3.4.3 Acceptability outcomes

The specific critical and important outcomes that would be considered in the review were agreed

between the review team and the Steering Group and were endorsed by the GDG. These are shown in Table 4.

Table 4. Critical and important outcomes fo	the systematic review	<i>i</i> of the acceptability of SHS
---	-----------------------	--------------------------------------

Outcomes	Characteristics
Critical acceptability outcome	User satisfaction as reported by the child/adolescent
Important acceptability outcomes	 Access (student had a regular health-care provider to whom they had consistent access) Confidentiality Communication Safety and respect Health-care worker spent enough time with the student Satisfaction from the provider point of view Feasibility of implementation from the provider point of view

3.4.4 Systematic review process

The systematic reviews of effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS screened the titles and abstracts of 8966 records for potential eligibility, after which 443 full-text articles were assessed for eligibility (Web Annex D). High-quality studies were identified; these were defined a priori as systematic reviews or randomized controlled trials or non-randomized controlled studies. In total, 18 high-quality studies, all of which used a controlled design, were found to be eligible and were included in the review. Because all of these were from HIC, the review also included observational studies conducted in LMIC. This resulted in 19 supplementary observational studies from LMIC.

Data were extracted from all eligible studies and quality assessment was conducted on each included study. For the non-randomized controlled studies and for the cross-sectional studies, quality assessment was conducted using the Risk Of Bias In Non-randomized Studies of Interventions (ROBINS-I) assessments (52). Within the ROBINS-I tool, all controlled studies start with a high level of certainty. Quality of economic studies was assessed using the Critical Skills Appraisal Programme checklist to evaluate the quality of economic evaluations (53).

Because of substantial variation in the different types of interventions covered and in line with WHO guidance (2), the findings of the included studies primarily were synthesized narratively and organized according to the outcomes of interest (54). Where data allowed and studies were considered methodologically similar, data were pooled using fixed-effects meta-analysis to create estimates of effect, including odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for dichotomous data and mean differences with standard deviations for continuous data.

Certainty in the findings of the studies for each outcome was assessed according to GRADE guidance, which entails assessing the potential for risk of bias, imprecision, inconsistency, indirectness and publication bias for each finding (55). When using the ROBINS-I to assess risk of bias (52), GRADE ratings for the controlled evaluation studies commenced at high certainty and were then downgraded. For example, risk of bias was downgraded once for a response rate below 80% and twice for a response rate under 60%; imprecision was downgraded once for wide CIs or for a sample size below 300 and twice for a sample size below 100 participants; and inconsistency was downgraded once for unexplained heterogeneity between studies indicated by I² > 50%. The rating for the observational (cross-sectional) studies started as low and was eligible to be increased for factors strengthening the evidence base, such as consistency over large numbers of studies and participants, dose-response relationship, or if the effect was present despite confounders tending in the opposite direction (56). The 2014 WHO handbook for guideline development (2) was used to select an overall certainty rating across outcomes. The handbook recommends that if there is higher quality of evidence for one or more critical outcomes and this is sufficient to support a recommendation, there is no reason to downgrade the overall quality of evidence because of lowerquality evidence for another critical outcome that supports the same recommendation.

For the qualitative studies, the GRADE Confidence in the Evidence from Reviews of Qualitative research (GRADE-CERQual) approach was used to determine confidence in the overall findings (*57,58*).

3.4.5 Developing the recommendation

Once the systematic review evidence was identified and synthesized and its quality assessed, the GDG, with the support of the Steering Group, followed the GRADE framework in considering specific factors that may affect the recommendation and its strength and direction. Criteria that were considered when moving from evidence to recommendations were: quality or certainty of the evidence, balance of benefits and harms, values and preferences, resource implications, priority of the problem, equity and human rights, and acceptability and feasibility (2,59). Evidence-to-decision tables were generated to help structure and document the GDG discussion by focusing on factors that would influence the direction and strength of the potential recommendation(s).

Generally, strong WHO recommendations are based on moderate-to-high certainty of evidence, depending on the other factors that are taken into consideration, as detailed above (2). Making a strong recommendation based on low or very low certainty of evidence would be unusual and would require special justification (2).



3.5 Development of menu and compendium of interventions

Several steps were taken to assess Key Question 3, the content of comprehensive SHS in different contexts. These included an extensive review of published global WHO health service procedures and activities for 5–19-year-olds, a global survey of experts, GDG categorization and prioritization of interventions and the development of a compendium and a menu of interventions. Each of these is described below.

3.5.1 Initial review of global WHO health service interventions for 5–19-year-olds

For the review of health service procedures and activities for 5–19-year-olds, a search was conducted through online WHO search engines, department website publication lists and other compilations of WHO recommendations. In total, 342 recent global WHO publications and WHO recommendation webpages were reviewed to assess their potential relevance for SHS, of which 149 publications had content used to produce a master list of 531 health service PAs that are relevant to 5-19-year-olds. These publications included global guidelines, strategies, standards for quality of care and guidance documents on adolescent health, school health and specific health conditions. The resulting list of PAs included formal recommendations in guidelines that had been approved by the WHO GRC as well as other published interventions, such as those identified as evidence-based interventions, best-practice statements, good-practice statements, key actions, key areas for programming, priority actions, quality areas, quality statements, recommendations and standards. Most of the compiled PAs were quoted verbatim in the compiled list, but some were consolidated from many lengthy and highly specific WHO recommendations to create one brief, composite PA. In addition, one unpublished global WHO report was included in this review, the February 2019 draft of the WHO UHC intervention menu that was then in development.

In early 2019, the working list of PAs was merged with a working menu of UHC interventions for children and adolescents. The new long list was consolidated to produce a shortlist for review by the GDG. At a May 2019 meeting, the GDG further refined the shortlist to produce a final list of 86 interventions for inclusion in a global questionnaire survey of expert opinion on SHS.

3.5.2 Global survey of expert opinion on SHS

3.5.2.1 Survey participants

SHS experts were identified through: (a) a search of PubMed and regional Index Medicus databases; and (b) lists of the Steering Group and GDG members, other people who had been nominated as potential members of the GDG and people nominated by members of the Steering Group or GDG.

3.5.2.2 Survey process

In July–August 2019, 442 experts participated in the global online survey, which focused on the relative suitability of the 86 interventions for inclusion within SHS. Specifically, respondents were asked whether each intervention was essential, highly suitable, suitable or unsuitable within SHS, either everywhere or in certain geographic areas only. Respondents also had the option to write in other essential SHS interventions. The questionnaire was available in Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Spanish and Russian.

Survey respondents represented 81 nationalities and two thirds (63%) had a doctorate or professional degree. Web Annex G details other self-reported sociodemographic characteristics of survey respondents.

3.5.2.3 Survey results

Responses to all of the interventions listed in the questionnaire were generally favourable, with the vast majority of respondents ranking almost all of the 86 interventions somewhere in the range from suitable to essential within SHS.

Several health promotion and education interventions had the highest overall ranking as essential in SHS everywhere, indicating that these were considered to be very important roles for health workers to perform within a school setting, although answer order bias may have contributed to this pattern. The clinical interventions that ranked most highly as essential in SHS everywhere were in the areas of immunization and mass drug administration, screening, assessment and general care. Similarly, among the 378 interventions that respondents wrote in as additional essential interventions for inclusion in SHS, the most common suggestions were in the areas of health education, other aspects of HPS and screening and care for noncommunicable conditions.

Web Annex G describes the methodology and findings from the global survey of expert opinion in more detail.

3.5.3 GDG prioritization and categorization of interventions

At its October 2019 meeting, the GDG developed a final list of 94 interventions that were categorized for possible inclusion within SHS. Several steps were taken in this process, including the following.

- 1. A review of expert survey results: none of the interventions listed in the SHS expert survey questionnaire was identified as unsuitable in SHS by more than 14% of respondents. Based on the most common categorization of each intervention, 62/86 (72%) interventions were identified as essential in SHS everywhere by survey respondents. The GDG found the survey findings promising, suggesting that all interventions could be considered for inclusion within the WHO guideline on SHS. However, the GDG acknowledged that this also posed a challenge, as the overwhelmingly positive results provided little guidance on how to prioritize interventions for possible inclusion within SHS.
- 2. Consideration of findings from review of global WHO health service interventions: the GDG also reviewed the preliminary findings from the review of global WHO health service interventions for 5–19-year-olds. Both the detailed evidence and the broad categorizations of WHO sources that were based on this review were considered in discussions of how to categorize interventions as essential, suitable or unsuitable for inclusion with SHS, by location.
- 3. Prioritization exercises: based on the survey and review findings above, and their own experience and expertise, the GDG undertook an exercise to prioritize interventions within SHS. First, two subgroups of the GDG independently reviewed, ranked and categorized the 86 interventions that

were the focus of the survey. They also considered the survey write-in interventions and whether any new interventions should be added to the working list of 86. Each subgroup engaged in extensive discussion and debate until they came to consensus about the interventions to include in the list and how they should be categorized as essential, suitable or unsuitable within SHS, by location. Next, both subgroups discussed and resolved differences by consensus in plenary. The overall results were similar to those of the survey, in that the GDG identified 65 (76%) of the 86 interventions as essential in SHS everywhere. In addition, the GDG agreed to add eight new interventions to the list to create a final list of 94 interventions. This included:

- 71 interventions categorized as essential in SHS everywhere
- nine as suitable in SHS everywhere
- seven as essential or suitable in SHS in certain geographical contexts only
- seven as UNSUITABLE IN SHS EVERYWHERE.
- 4. Further categorization of interventions by health area and type of SHS activity: the GDG engaged in more subgroup activities to organize the 87 essential or suitable interventions by seven types of health activity (see section 3.2) - health promotion, health education, health screening, preventive interventions, clinical assessment, health services management and support for other pillars of HPS. In addition, they categorized these interventions by seven health areas (see section 3.2): positive health and development; unintentional injury; violence; sexual and reproductive health, including HIV; communicable disease; noncommunicable disease, sensory functions, physical disability, oral health, nutrition and physical activity; and mental health, substance use and self-harm. A further, eighth, category was added to cover general/ cross-cutting interventions.

3.5.4 Design and finalization of the menu and compendium of interventions

The GDG proposed that the 87 essential or suitable interventions be organized in an at-a-glance menu of interventions for national governments to consider when developing or refining SHS in their respective countries. This menu should provide an overview of each intervention's health area, type of health activity, WHO source and final GDG categorization as essential or suitable for inclusion within SHS, by location. Box 3 explains the different categories of "WHO source" as used in this guideline.

The GDG further instructed WHO that the at-aglance menu should be linked to a compendium that lists the WHO sources and details published WHO procedures or activities for each of the 87 interventions that were identified as essential or suitable. Like the menu, this compendium was used for background information while the GDG considered possible SHS categorization of interventions during the guideline development, but was also intended to be a resource for national governments and their partners within the guideline itself.

In November 2019, an additional targeted review of global WHO guiding documents was undertaken to update the February 2019 literature review. This final review clarified the WHO sources of interventions where needed and produced the final list of 531 health service procedures or activities that provide evidence to the menu and compendium of 87 interventions.

BOX 3.

Understanding the WHO sources of interventions

The GDG drew on multiple sources of information when considering how to categorize interventions for inclusion within SHS, including their own expertise and discussion, the survey of experts, and the review of information published for each intervention within global WHO guidance documents. The review of 149 global WHO publications identified 531 health service PAs for 5–19-year-olds. While the GDG reviewed this detailed information during their decision-making, they also requested an overview of it, as follows.

- First, global WHO publications were considered to be approved by the GRC ("GRC-approved") if they detailed the GRC approval process and/ or were included in a list of GRC-approved publications within a WHO compilation.
- 2. Second, an intervention was considered to have:
 - "full GRC" support if all aspects of the intervention were supported by a GRCapproved guideline;
 - "partial GRC" support if some, but not all, aspects of the intervention were supported by a GRC-approved guideline (in addition, some or all aspects of the intervention may have been supported by "other WHO" publications);

- "other WHO" support if some or all aspects of the intervention were supported by other global WHO publications (that is, those that have not gone through the GRC-approval process); and
- "no WHO source identified" if no supporting procedures or activities had been found in global WHO publications or a GRC-approved recommendation specifically stated that the intervention should not be done.

"WHO source" is a novel form of categorization and is not an evidentiary standard. Recommendations within GRC-approved guidelines may have variable certainty of evidence, so "WHO source" neither indicates the quality nor the strength of the evidence. WHO publications are cited throughout this guideline and its Web Annexes so readers can directly consult them for information about the strength and quality of evidence for specific interventions.

Chapter 4

Recommendation



4.1 Recommendation, rationale and implementation considerations

The recommendation, rationale, summary of evidence-to-decision judgements and implementation considerations are shown in Box 4.

BOX 4.

Recommendation, rationale, summary of evidence-to-decision judgements and implementation considerations

Recommendation

Comprehensive school health services should be implemented.

Strength of recommendation: strong.

Certainty of evidence: moderate.

Rationale: this recommendation is strong because:

- all evidence consistently points in a beneficial direction, including evidence related to acceptability and equity;
- the evidence suggests that if school health services are implemented well – they will have lasting benefits for students;
- the overall certainty of the evidence in the systematic reviews is moderate;
- although there were no studies in LMIC that provided high-certainty evidence, the observational studies that took place in LMIC also identified benefits and did not identify significant harms; and
- schools offer a compelling, broad and relatively convenient opportunity to reach children and adolescents with needed comprehensive health services.

Summary of GDG evidence-to-decision judgements

- 1. Is the problem a priority? -> Yes
- 2. How substantial are the benefits? -> Moderate
- 3. How substantial are the harms? -> Uncertain or small
- What is the overall certainty of the evidence?
 -> Moderate
- 5. What is the balance between benefits and harms? -> Favours SHS

- 6. Do students value a comprehensive SHS?
 -> Important variability and possibly important uncertainty
- 7. How large are the resource requirements (costs)? -> Varies
- 8. What is the certainty of the evidence for the costs? -> Very low
- 9. Is a comprehensive SHS cost-effective? -> Favours SHS
- 10. What would the impact be on health equity? -> Increased
- 11. Is a SHS acceptable to all stakeholders? -> Probably yes
- 12. Is a SHS feasible to implement? -> Yes, although varies

Implementation considerations

- This recommendation is for comprehensive SHS that have adequate resources and are implemented well.
- SHS need to be implemented with quality, fidelity and over the long term. The resource implications must be carefully identified, examined and met.
- In practice, implementation will be variable. In some settings it may be difficult and/or not yet feasible to implement comprehensive SHS similar to those that the systematic reviews found were evaluated in the controlled studies in HIC. Substantial resources, time and leadership may be needed to achieve this. In many LMIC, it may nonetheless be feasible to implement some aspects of comprehensive SHS now, even if not yet all aspects.
- Protecting student confidentiality is paramount, and school health workers are also obliged to prevent possible discrimination or stigma towards students.

The GDG found that the research on SHS effectiveness and acceptability has been limited to date (for instance, it has taken place primarily in HIC), so the certainty or quality of evidence is moderate. They considered this **moderate certainty of evidence** together with other factors – such as the balance of benefits and harms, values and preferences, resource implications, priority of the problem, equity and human rights, acceptability and feasibility – in its judgement of the strength of the evidence (for example, all evidence from HIC and LMIC consistently points in a beneficial direction). These factors together contributed to the GDG's **strong recommendation that comprehensive SHS be implemented.** In other words:

• a strong recommendation indicates the GDG's confidence that the desirable effects of comprehensive SHS outweigh possible undesirable consequences; and

4.2 Summary of evidence

 moderate certainty of evidence means that the GDG was moderately confident in the effect estimate – that is, that the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different (2).

Section 4.2 provides a brief summary of the evidence for this recommendation, while section 4.3 provides an overview of the evidence-to-decision process that informed it. Web Annex E provides more detailed evidence summaries from the systematic reviews of effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS. Web Annex F provides the GRADE evidence profiles and evidence-to-decision tables; note the GRADE tables are included within the evidence-todecision tables.

In total, 18 studies with high-quality research designs were the main evidence source for the systematic reviews. None of the systematic reviews identified in the search directly addressed the review questions, so they were only used to check that the searches had identified all eligible primary studies. No eligible randomized controlled studies were found.

Of the 18 controlled studies, 11 addressed effectiveness, eight addressed economic outcomes and four addressed acceptability (five studies addressed two of these outcomes: effectiveness plus economic (n = 2) or effectiveness plus acceptability (n = 3)).

As all of this evidence was derived from HIC, supplementary data from observational studies in LMIC were also included, which yielded an additional 19 studies (11 quantitative and eight qualitative). Of the 19 observational studies in LMIC, two addressed effectiveness (one quantitative and one qualitative), none addressed economic outcomes and 18 addressed acceptability (one study addressed both effectiveness and acceptability).

The summary of evidence presented to the GDG is given in Web Annex F, Table F.1. This is further described below.

4.2.1 Effectiveness

4.2.1.1 Critical effectiveness outcomes

From the 11 studies with high-quality, non-randomized controlled research designs that reported on effectiveness outcomes (all of which were conducted in HIC), seven reported on at least one critical effectiveness outcome; the others reported only important outcomes. The studies with nonrandomized controlled research designs that could be assessed using GRADE were all conducted in HIC. Specifically, there was moderate strength of evidence of a benefit of SHS on the critical effectiveness outcomes of emergency department visits for asthma in two studies in the United States of America (total 2762 participants, OR = 0.48 (95% CI: 0.31, 0.73; p = 0.0006); no heterogeneity; $I^2 = 0\%$), with reduced risk of emergency department visits for asthma among students attending schools with, versus those without, comprehensive SHS (60,61). Also, there was very low strength of evidence on school absence/ attendance (three studies in the United States of America with 6664, 3181 and 2305 participants, totalling 12 150, OR = 0.78 (95% CI: 0.69, 0.87; p < 0.0001)) for the risk of absence among students with, versus those without, SHS (substantial heterogeneity; $I^2 = 64\%$) (61–63). The heterogeneity between the study findings may have been because one included

children from pre-kindergarten to eighth grade (up to approximately 14 years) whereas the other covered the age range from 12 to over 18 years.

One observational study of only 31 participants in Turkey provided very low strength of evidence of a benefit of comprehensive SHS on school absence and academic progress (64).

4.2.1.2 Critical economic effectiveness outcomes

The eight studies with high-quality, non-randomized controlled research designs that reported on economic outcomes were conducted in HIC. Specifically, seven in the United States of America reported on at least one critical economic outcome, while the eighth, in Japan, reported willingness to pay.

Four studies conducted in the United States of America provided moderate strength of evidence that comprehensive SHS were cost–saving; these studies involved a total of 7704 participants (273, 109, 6664 and 658 respectively) (*61,62,65,66*).

Three other studies in the United States of America (5056, 1430 and 477 163 participants; total 483 649) showed cost-benefits (67–69).

4.2.1.3 Important effectiveness outcomes

From the 11 studies with non-randomized controlled research designs that reported on effectiveness outcomes (all of which were conducted in HIC), five reported on at least one important effectiveness outcome. Of those that could be assessed in GRADE, one study of 1994 participants in the United States of America had a moderate strength of evidence of a benefit of SHS on the important effectiveness outcomes in terms of students who reported that they had carried a weapon (OR 0.68 (0.53 to 0.88)), been in a fight (OR 0.73 (CI 95%: 0.60, 0.88)), ever had sex (OR 0.75 (CI 95%: 0.63, 0.90)), exercised at least four times a week (OR 1.21 (CI 95%: 1.02, 1.45)), ever used alcohol (OR 0.63 (CI 95%: 0.52, 0.76)) or used marijuana (OR 0.63 (CI 95%: 0.52, 0.76)) and the responsiveness of SHS to unmet need (OR 1.75 (CI 95%: 1.46, 2.09)) (70).

Other important outcomes from non-randomized controlled studies that could not be assessed using GRADE were relatively low health complaints, and relatively improved quality of life and school engagement (65,71,72).

One very small quantitative observational study from LMIC that involved only 31 participants provided very low strength of evidence of a benefit of comprehensive SHS on quality of life *(64)*.

Regarding the qualitative data from LMIC, using the GRADE-CERQual approach, there was low confidence in the evidence on the existence of policies regarding SHS. One study of 30 health workers found there were no written plans guiding SHS work in the region of the United Republic of Tanzania studied (73).

4.2.2 Acceptability

4.2.2.1 Critical acceptability outcomes

All of the studies with non-randomized controlled research designs were conducted in HIC. From those that evaluated the acceptability of comprehensive SHS there was moderate strength of evidence of a benefit of SHS on the critical acceptability outcome of user satisfaction in HIC (74,75).

The observational (cross-sectional) studies from LMIC that evaluated the acceptability of comprehensive SHS were conducted in Egypt and Tunisia (two studies; 1121 and 625 participants; total 1746) (76,77). These studies suggest that users were less satisfied with their SHS than those in HIC, although there was no information about how satisfied they would have been with any realistic alternative or with no SHS.

4.2.2.2 Important acceptability outcomes

All of the studies with non-randomized controlled research designs that evaluated the acceptability of comprehensive SHS and reported on one or more important acceptability outcomes were conducted in HIC. For these studies, there was moderate strength of evidence of a benefit of SHS on confidentiality (one study in the United States of America with 2076 participants; OR 2.45 (2.04 to 2.95)) (74). There was low strength of evidence about access to health services (students having a regular health-care provider: two studies in the United States of America with 2076 and 1994 participants, respectively, totalling 4070; OR 1.33 (1.15 to 1.54)) (70,74). The 10 observational (cross-sectional) studies from LMIC that addressed important acceptability outcomes showed that access to SHS, when measured by utilization, was variable (four studies in Egypt, India, Mexico and South Africa, with 1577, 360, 3005 and 830 participants, respectively, totalling 5772) (78–81). Access ranged from almost all students (97%) using the SHS in one study to only 5% of adolescents seeking health care through a school clinic in another.

One observational (cross-sectional) study in Tunisia with 625 participants suggested that students were disappointed in terms of confidentiality, communication, respect and health-care workers spending enough time with them (77).

Three observational (cross-sectional) studies from LMIC provided variable results in terms of provider or other professional satisfaction (148, 720 and 60 participants, respectively, totalling 928):

- in the first study, in Iraq, school principals' overall satisfaction was rated as "satisfied to some extent" (82);
- in the second, in Turkey, 337 (93.6%) teachers in private schools and 338 (93.9%) teachers in public schools believed that school nurses were needed (83); and
- in the third, in the Islamic Republic of Iran, the percentage of participants (health trainers, training managers and teachers working in elementary schools) agreeing that standards were met was: 94% for first-aid and screening functions of nurses; 69% for consultations with colleagues, peers and mental health consultants; 72% for health education; 76% for diagnosis; 62% for managing health planning with educational plans; but only 39% for using a suitable evaluation system for the plan for students, parents and staff (84).

A key issue in implementation reported by one observational (cross-sectional) study in an LMIC was lack of competency among primary school nurses regarding sexual health issues (one study in the Republic of Korea with 595 participants) (85).

4.2.2.3 Qualitative acceptability findings

In the qualitative studies, there was moderate confidence in the evidence that users were satisfied with SHS. This is based on three studies that ascertained the views of 20 school nurses in South Africa (86), 44 adolescents in Brazil (87) and 21 managers and health professionals in Brazil (88) (total 85). Particular attributes of SHS highlighted were that they were comprehensive, convenient, necessary, and offered an opportunity for gaining information and learning that may be beneficial in maintaining health. In addition, in one of the studies in Brazil, some of the student users perceived them as a "blessing" that inspired their gratitude (87).

The synthesis of the qualitative data from LMIC also showed moderate confidence in the evidence of the feasibility of SHS implementation (seven studies with a total of 157 participants). Four of these took place in Brazil and assessed the views of 15 primary health-care nurses (89), 39 health professionals, teachers and managers (90), 10 teachers (91) and 21 managers and health professionals (87). One study of 30 health workers took place in the United Republic of Tanzania (73), while two studies took place in South Africa, assessing the views of 20 school nurses (86) and 22 health-care providers (92). Potential SHS benefits noted in the seven studies were identifying health problems such as dental, visual and nutritional problems (including obesity), delayed vaccination status and social risk conditions, and integrating health, school and family.

4.3 Evidence-to-decision process

In its April 2020 meeting, the GDG reviewed the findings of the systematic reviews. Where no evidence was available for criteria within the evidence-to-decision tables, this was noted and GDG participants were requested to comment based on their expert opinion. Based on the evidence from the systematic reviews and their own expert opinions, each GDG subgroup made independent judgements about each of the questions, as summarized in Table 5, which also shows the overall direction and main points of the group discussion prior to making judgements.

Table 5. SHS recommendation evidence-to-decision table: questions, judgements by GDG subgroup and rationales

Questions related to the health of school-age children and adolescents and/or SHS	GDG judgement	
	Subgroup 1	Subgroup 2
1. Is the problem a priority?	Yes	Yes

Rationale: the Convention on the Rights of the Child includes the right to the highest attainable standard of health (93). The SDGs also support this; for example, ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages (SDG 3), reduce inequality within and among countries (SDG 10) and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels (SDG 16). Moreover, adolescents are recognized as having very high unmet needs for health, including those related to mental health and sexual and reproductive health. Problems that arise during the second decade of life affect later health and development (4,16). In addition to worldwide recognition of child and adolescent health as a priority, individual countries (such as the United States of America) have also stated that it is a national priority to support the health and education of students and have specific priorities, such as reducing suicides among young people.

2. How substantial are the benefits?ModerateModerateRationale: the systematic reviews of controlled studies found evidence of a benefit of comprehensive SHS on the
critical effectiveness outcomes of reduction in suicide planning (one study; 1 994 participants), hospitalization for
asthma (one study; 273 participants), emergency department visits for asthma (five studies; total 17 166); school
absence/attendance (three studies; total 12 150); and academic progress (one study; 2 305 participants). Some of
these are critical outcomes (such as reduction in suicide planning). The judgement was "Moderate" because some of
the benefits were based only on one study and there was little evidence to date based on LMIC experiences. The GDG
noted that benefits may vary in LMIC.

3. How substantial are the harms?	Uncertain	Small

Rationale: the reviews considered a wide range of critical and important outcomes that could have gone in either direction of benefit or harm, but there was no evidence of harm. One possible exception was a qualitative study of SHS acceptability in an LMIC in which SHS health workers reported they did not have plans to guide their work. In addition, the lack of evidence of harm may reflect a lack of measuring and/or a lack of reporting of possible harms. Both subgroups discussed making a judgement of "Small", "Trivial" or "Uncertain". Both subgroups acknowledged that an intrinsically sound and beneficial SHS design could potentially become harmful if implemented in inappropriate ways, such as in resource-limited LMIC, but the same could be said for all health services. Subgroup 1 ultimately selected "Uncertain" because some studies did not specifically ask whether there were potential negative outcomes. Subgroup 2 instead selected "Small", while noting that there was uncertainty, particularly as there was little evidence from LMIC.

Questions related to the health of school-age children and adolescents and/or SHS	GDG judgement	
children and adolescents and/or SHS	Subgroup 1	Subgroup 2
4. What is the overall certainty of the evidence?	Moderate	Moderate

Rationale: the GRADE tables present some variability. The overall body of evidence ranged from moderate to low certainty of evidence for critical outcomes. Several of the outcomes were based only on single studies and some important outcomes were not included (such as obesity, communicable disease, myopia and substance abuse). However, many of the studies were large and diverse in terms of geographic area and type of health outcomes assessed. Also, the direction of effects was consistently towards benefit, with minor exceptions, including a subset of males for suicide ideation (this was not statistically significant). All of these points contributed to a "Moderate" certainty of evidence judgement in both GDG subgroups.

5. What is the balance between benefits and harms?	Favours SHS	Favours SHS
--	-------------	-------------

Rationale: the body of evidence collated in the systematic reviews indicated that provision of services can impact beneficially on key indicators of child and adolescent health. Again, the reviews considered a wide range of critical and important outcomes that could have gone in either direction of benefit or harm and there was no evidence of harm, although it was also possible that the lack of evidence of harm reflected a lack of measuring and/or a lack of reporting of additional possible harms. GDG members judged that the evidence favoured SHS, but both subgroups independently noted that if SHS are not implemented with fidelity to recommended standards and/or are provided by an inappropriate person, harms may result (such as a teacher responsible for SHS who does not make a life-saving referral, or a health worker who does not respect a student's rights).

6. Do students value a comprehensive SHS?	Possibly important	Important variability
	uncertainty or variability	

Rationale: controlled studies from HIC found evidence of a benefit of SHS on the critical acceptability outcome of user satisfaction: confidentiality (one study; 2 076 participants; OR 2.45 (CI 95%: 2.04, 2.95)); and access (students having a regular health-care provider (two studies; total 4 070; OR 1.33 (CI 95%: 1.15, 1.54)). The 10 cross-sectional studies from LMIC showed that access to SHS was variable (four studies; total 5 772), ranging from almost all students (97%) to only 5.4% of adolescents. One cross-sectional LMIC study (625 participants) found that a high proportion of students were disappointed in terms of confidentiality (62%), respect for privacy (57%), listening (85%), understanding (83%), dialogue (82%), support (79%), information (51%), empathy (43%), respect (53%) and exam time (71%). Both GDG subgroups discussed that evidence was limited, particularly in LMIC, which led Subgroup 1 to select "Possibly important uncertainty or variability". Subgroup 2 instead felt the very positive results in HIC provided some certainty that the majority of students value comprehensive SHS. However, this subgroup felt that important variability in service delivery remains, which in turn influences how students may value SHS in practice, leading to their judgement of "Important variability".

7. How large are the resource requirements (costs)?	Varies	Varies
		(such as start-up and
		maintenance costs)

Rationale: this question was not examined in the reviews and indeed no evidence was found about it in the reviews. In their discussion, GDG members raised several points based on their experience and expertise. They noted that resource requirements may be kept relatively low if specialist health professionals are involved in staff capacitybuilding, monitoring and supervision rather than service delivery. For example, in LMIC resource requirements may be moderate or even low if a task-sharing system is created, while in HIC costs may be relatively low if SHS create access to existing health services rather than establish entirely new ones. These different factors led to a judgement of "Varies" by both subgroups. Subgroup 2 further chose to emphasize that there are likely to be large start-up costs in most settings as well as maintenance costs, but that these should be assessed in terms of benefit–cost ratios.

Questions related to the health of school-age children and adolescents and/or SHS	GDG judgement	
children and adolescents and/or SHS	Subgroup 1	Subgroup 2
8. What is the certainty of the evidence for the costs?	Very low	Very low

Rationale: limited evidence on costs was found in the reviews, so both subgroups judged the certainty of the evidence for the costs to be "Very low".

9. Is a comprehensive SHS cost-effective?	Favours SHS	Favours SHS

Rationale: four studies (total 7 704) provided moderate strength of evidence that comprehensive SHS were cost-saving. Three studies (total 483 649 participants) showed cost-benefits. Outcomes assessed included: reduced number of hospitalizations, reduced absenteeism, Medicaid savings and parent productivity. Although these studies were all based in HIC, both subgroups felt the evidence favoured SHS.

10. What would the impact be on health equity?	Increased	Increased
Bationals: the reviews found that school-based health control	s in the United States of Americ	a holped African-American

Rationale: the reviews found that school-based health centres in the United States of America helped African-American children and adolescents from low-income families receive health care they may not have otherwise received, closing the gap in potential health-care disparities (67). Based on their joint experience and expertise, both subgroups further agreed that SHS are likely to increase health equity. The GDG noted that one of the roles of SHS should specifically be to work with the most vulnerable children and adolescents.

11. Is a SHS acceptable to all stakeholders?	Probably yes	Probably yes
--	--------------	--------------

Rationale: in the HIC studies there were strong beneficial findings related to SHS acceptability in terms of, for instance, student use, access and confidentiality. Three cross-sectional studies from LMIC provided variable results in terms of provider or other professional satisfaction (total 928 participants). In a study in Iraq, school principals' overall satisfaction was rated as "satisfied to some extent" (82). In a second study, in Turkey, a very high proportion of teachers (337/360, 93.6%) in private schools and 338/360 (93.9%) in public schools believed that school nurses were needed (83). In a third study, in the Islamic Republic of Iran, authors reported that standards were met in 94% of schools for first-aid and screening functions of nurses, 69% for consultations with colleagues, peers and mental health consultants, 72% for health education, 76% for diagnosis and 62% for managing health planning with educational plans, but only 39% for using a suitable evaluation system for the plan for students, parents and staff (84). The GDG discussed how SHS, if designed and implemented to a high standard, might well be acceptable to most stakeholders, but there was uncertainty as to whether SHS would be acceptable to **all** stakeholders (such as students, parents, school staff, community members and policy-makers) as worded in the question. This influenced both subgroups' judgement of "Probably yes".

12. Is a SHS feasible to implement?	Varies	Yes
-------------------------------------	--------	-----

Rationale: the systematic reviews generally found comprehensive SHS to be feasible to implement in HIC. However, they may face challenges in implementation, including time and budget constraints, children moving within and between schools, SHS staff turnover and communication challenges between SHS and school staff (about, for instance, SHS staff roles). Subgroup 2 felt that SHS nonetheless are feasible to implement and judged the answer to be "Yes". Subgroup 1 noted that similar challenges were likely to take place in LMIC, where the feasibility of SHS may be especially likely to vary between schools and between countries, depending on resources; this led to their judgement of "Varies".

After each GDG subgroup had discussed and answered the 12 questions in Table 5, both independently came to a consensus in answering three final questions and determining a recommendation. Responses to the final questions were unanimous in both GDG subgroups, as follows.

- 1. Is there enough evidence to make a recommendation? -> YES
- 2. Is the recommendation in favour of SHS or against SHS? -> IN FAVOUR
- Is the recommendation strong or conditional?
 -> STRONG

Both GDG subgroups then independently and unanimously agreed to recommend in the

guideline that comprehensive SHS should be implemented in schools. This was assessed to be a strong recommendation, based on moderate certainty of evidence.

It should be highlighted that the main evidence source for the systematic reviews was 18 controlled studies in HIC, and such research has only limited applicability in LMIC. While it is useful that an additional 19 observational studies from LMIC also informed the systematic reviews, higher-quality studies in LMIC (such as randomized controlled trials or non-randomized controlled studies of SHS effectiveness and acceptability) should be a future research priority.

Chapter 5

Menu and compendium of interventions



5.1 Rationale for the menu and compendium of interventions

The reviews of national SHS described in section 1.3 showed that the health areas covered and the types of SHS activities included in national SHS programmes vary considerably between countries. The systematic reviews of the effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive SHS conducted to provide background information for this guideline had similar findings, as a range of SHS health areas and types of activity were described in the studies of comprehensive SHS (see Chapter 4). However, the systematic reviews identified very few studies that compared the effectiveness of SHS with different ranges of interventions. The GDG therefore found it very difficult to make specific recommendations about the preferred scope of SHS based on the literature review and systematic reviews.

In an effort to further clarify and prioritize health areas and activities that should be included within SHS, the GDG requested that WHO compile all WHO health service recommendations for 5–19-year-olds (section 3.5.1) and also conduct a global survey of SHS experts (section 3.5.2). Based on these findings, the GDG identified 94 interventions as **essential in SHS everywhere** (n = 71), suitable in SHS everywhere (n = 9), essential or suitable in SHS in certain geographical contexts only (n = 7) or UNSUITABLE IN SHS EVERYWHERE (n = 7) (section 3.5.3).

To assist countries and programmes as they choose which specific interventions to include in their SHS, the GDG created a menu of these interventions. Table 6 shows the menu of interventions that the GDG identified as essential or suitable for inclusion within SHS organized by health area, type of health activity and specific GDG categorization. Web Annex H provides an expanded version of this menu with the WHO sources of interventions (section 3.5.4). Both Table 6 and Web Annex H provide a simplified overview. This at-a-glance menu is linked to a compendium in Web Annex A that details the published global WHO evidence base and specific procedures or activities for each of the 87 interventions.

	7. Support for other pillars of a health- promoting school	 I-T7. Support for policies on health promotion I-18. Support for other aspects of health- promoting schools I-19. Support for policies on disease/injury prevention I-23. Training of school staff I-24. Inspection of school environment I-77. Referral and support for child carers 	1	1	1
	6. Health services management	I-2E. Use population-level data to plan school health services I-26. Use data on school health services for monitoring and improvement improvement risk- management plan	1	1	1
	 Clinical assessment leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	 -56. Provision of first aid -57. Administration of medications -58. Referral and support for pain management -59. Referral and support for non-specific symptoms 	 -30. Identification of developmental disabilities 1-44. Counselling related to development 1-43. Psychosocial intervention for well-being 1-45. Support for caregiver related to a child's 	1-70. Referral and support for injury 1-71. Referral and support for burns 1-72. Referral and support for drowning	 I-50. Counselling to prevent violence I-73. Referral and support for victims of violence
Type of SHS activity	 Preventive interventions (such as immunizations and mass drug administration) 	1	1	1	1
ΙĄΤ	 Screening leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	I-27. Ensure compliance with school entry requirements I-28. Routine preventive health check-ups	-1	1	1
	2. Health education	I-16. Support for health-promoting curriculum	1	I-48. Provision of education to prevent unintentional injury	I-49. Provision of education to prevent violence
	1. Health promotion	I-01. Promotion of care-seeking I-02. Promotion of health literacy	I-07. Promotion of appropriate use of electronic devices I-08. Promotion of adequate sleep I-10. Promotion of parenting skills	1	1
	Health area	a. General/cross- cutting	b. Positive health and development	c. Unintentional Injury	d. Violence

Table 6. SHS guideline menu of interventions by health area, type of health service activity and GDG categorization

GDG categorization of interventions as essential or suitable within SHS, by location

Definition Should be included in SHS everywhere

Category formatting Essential everywhere

_
$\overline{\mathbf{n}}$
<u> </u>
Ē
0
ŭ
G
Ð
9
ō

	7. Support for other pillars of a health- promoting school	1	1	I-21. Support for policies on anaphy laxis
	6. Health services management	1	I-63. Management of infectious disease outbreaks	1
	 Clinical assessment leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	 I-51. Contraceptive counselling I-52. Counselling on sexually transmitted infection prevention I-54. Referral and support for HIV prophylaxis I-55. Referral and support for pregnancy I-73. Referral and support for sexually transmitted infection I-53. Referral and support for voluntary medical male circumcision 	I-61. Referral and support for I-63. Management common infections of infectious disea I-62. Referral and support for less common infections I-64. Referral and support for HIV-infected children	 I-65. Referral and support for anaemia I-66. Referral and support for overweight I-67. Referral and support for asthma I-63. Referral and support for chronic conditions other than HIV, anaemia and asthma I-68. Referral and support for disability I-46. Counselling on nutrition and physical activity
Type of SHS activity	 Preventive interventions (such as immunizations and mass drug administration) 	1	I-38. Immunizations for all children I-40. Immunizations for children in high-risk populations I-39. Immunizations for children in certain regions I-41. Mass drug administration	1-42. Micronutriant supplementation
Typ	 Screening leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	1	1-36. Screening – infectious diseases	I-31. Screening – vision problems I-32. Screening – hearing problems I-33. Screening – oral health problems I-34. Screening – diabetes
	2. Health education	I-15. Provision of sexual and reproductive health education	1	I-13. Provision of nutrition education I-14. Provision of physical activity education
	1. Health promotion	I- 09. Promotion of menstrual hygiene management	I-03. Promotion of personal hygiene I-12. Promotion of insecticide-treated bed nets	I-04. Promotion of oral health care I-05. Promotion of reduced sugar I-06. Promotion of increased physical activity I-11. Promotion of appropriate sun exposure
	Health area	e. Sexual and reproductive health, including HIV	f. Communicable disease	g. Noncommunicable disease, sensory functions, physical disability, oral health, nutrition and physical activity

σ
۰
0
õ
ဖ
Φ
ā
ō

	7. Support for other pillars of a health- promoting school	I-18. Support for policies on mental health promotion I-22. Support for policies on bullying
	6. Health services management	1
	 Clinical assessment leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	 I-29. Conduct HEADSSS assessments I-47. Counselling on substance use I-76. Provide short-term or crisis counselling I-78. Referral and support for behavioural disorders I-79. Referral and support for emotional, anxiety, depressive disorders I-80. Referral and support for exting disorders I-81. Referral and support for support for support for support for support for substance use I-82. Referral and support for substance use I-83. Referral and support for substance use I-86. Referral and support for substance use I-87. Referral and support for substance withdrawal
Type of SHS activity	 Preventive interventions 5 (such as immunizations and mass drug administration) 	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Typ	 Screening leading to care and/or referral and support as appropriate 	I-37. Screening – mental health concerns
	2. Health education	1
	1. Health promotion	1
	Health area	h. Mental health, substance use and self harm

Note: each of the 87 interventions is categorized in the menu by health area, type of health activity, and final GDG ranking as essential or suitable within SHS, by location. Importantly, many interventions could be placed in multiple menu cells, but for clarity, one cell is selected for each intervention. Also, for the sake of brevity, summary names of interventions have been used in this matrix; full, precise names are given in Table 7. Web Annex H (Menu of interventions with WHO sources) and Web Annex A (Compendium of interventions with WHO service) provide more detailed information about each intervention.

HEADSSS: home, education, employment, eating, activity, drugs, sexuality, safety, suicidal thinking and depression status (assessment).

5.2 Full wording of the interventions

The 87 interventions that the GDG identified as essential or suitable within SHS are numbered and abbreviated in the menu in Table 6 and Web Annex H, so it can be read at a glance. The full, precise wording of each intervention is given in Table 7 and Web Annex A. For example, I–69 in short form is "Referral to rehabilitation and support for disability" (Table 6), but in long form it is "Referral and support for rehabilitation, habilitation, assistive technology, assistance and support services for injured or disabled individuals (e.g. those who are visually or hearing impaired or have eye/ear problems, who have physical disabilities or motor disorders or who have injuries)" (Table 7).

In addition, for each of the 87 interventions listed in Table 7, supporting WHO publications are cited. These publications can be accessed directly for more information, but Web Annex A also compiles excerpts from the cited publications which support and elaborate on each intervention.

Interventions organized by GDG categorization (a-c) and type of health service activity (1-7)	WHO source
(a) Essential in school health services everywhere	
1. HEALTH PROMOTION	
I-01. Promotion of timely care-seeking from an appropriate provider (7,94,95)	Partial GRC support
I-02. Promotion of health literacy (4,7,94,96,97)	Other WHO support
I-03. Promotion of personal hygiene and handwashing with soap (7,36,94,98-100)	Other WHO support
I-04. Promotion of oral health care (32,38)	Other WHO support
I-05. Promotion of reduced consumption of sugar and sugar-sweetened beverages (4,98,101–103)	Full GRC support
I-06. Promotion of increased physical activity and limited sedentary behaviour (4,94,98,101–105)	Full GRC support
I-07. Promotion of appropriate use of electronic devices, e.g. television, Internet, games (19,94,97,106,107)	Partial GRC support
I-08. Promotion of adequate sleep (94,97,107)	Partial GRC support
I-09. Promotion of menstrual hygiene management (4,19,39,94,100,108)	Other WHO support
I-11. Promotion of appropriate sun exposure for the context (e.g. prevention of sunburn or overheating; promotion of appropriate exposure for vitamin D) (108,109)	Other WHO support
2. HEALTH EDUCATION	
I-13. Provision of health education about nutrition (4,7,94,97,101,108)	Full GRC support
I-14. Provision of health education about physical activity (4,94,97,98,99,101–103,105,108)	Full GRC support

Table 7. Full wording of the 87 interventions categorized as essential or suitable within SHS, by location

Interventions organized by GDG categorization (a-c) and type of health service activity (1-7)	WHO source
2. HEALTH EDUCATION (CONTD)	
I-15. Provision of sexual and reproductive health education (4,19,94,102,110–116)	Full GRC support
I-16. Support for a health-promoting curriculum (e.g. curriculum-based sexuality education; curriculum on nutrition and physical activity) (4,39,94,97,100–102,110,111,113,115,117)	Full GRC support
I-48. Provision of health education to prevent common unintentional injuries (e.g. how to prevent unintentional injuries in the home, while playing or engaged in sports and on roads) (105,108, 118,119)	Partial GRC support
I-49. Provision of health education to prevent violence, including intimate-partner violence, sexual violence, gender-based violence, bullying and gang violence (e.g. universal information provided on prevention of violence and abuse) (98,106–108,113,120)	Partial GRC support
3. SCREENING LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIATE	
I-27. Assess and ensure compliance with school entry health requirements (e.g. medical history, comprehensive physical examination and immunization) (7,100,104,121)	Other WHO support
I-28. Routine preventive health check-ups (e.g. at beginning of pre-school, primary and secondary school to assess physical growth, motor development, social and emotional maturation and feeding and sleep problems and to offer appropriate care or referrals), meeting WHO criteria for a screening programme (7,38,94,96,108,122)	Other WHO support
3. SCREENING LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIATE (CONTD)	
I-31. Screening for eye and vision problems (32,94,123)	Other WHO support
I-32. Screening for ear and hearing problems (121,122,124–126)	Other WHO support
I-33. Screening for oral health problems (32,38)	Other WHO support
I-34. Screening for nutrition problems (e.g. anaemia, malnutrition, obesity) (7,38,127)	Other WHO support
4. PREVENTIVE INTERVENTIONS (e.g. IMMUNIZATIONS, MASS DRUG ADMINISTRATION)	
I-38. Administration of immunizations recommended for all children (e.g. diphtheria- tetanus-pertussis, hepatitis B, human papillomavirus (females only), measles, rubella) (4,43,94,100,104,128-131)	Full GRC support
5. CLINICAL ASSESSMENT LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIAT	TE
I-29. Conduct HEADSSS or equivalent assessments, i.e. assessments of adolescent risk behaviours related to Home, Education/Employment, Eating, Activity, Drugs, Sexuality, Safety and Suicidal thinking/Depression (to detect adolescent health and development problems; if their behaviour puts them at risk of negative health outcomes; and important factors in their environment that increase the likelihood of these behaviours) (4,107,108)	Other WHO support
I-30. Identification of developmental difficulties and disabilities (94,132)	Other WHO support

Interventions organized by GDG categorization (a-c) and type of health service activity (1-7)	WHO source
5. CLINICAL ASSESSMENT LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIA	ATE (CONTD)
I-44. Counselling and care related to a child's physical and psychosocial development (e.g. puberty, skin changes, body image, hygiene, child marriage) (4,7,39,94,97,98,102,107,108,115,117,133,134)	Partial GRC support
I-47. Counselling on tobacco, alcohol and other substance use (94,102,107,108,135–139)	Partial GRC support
I-50. Counselling to prevent violence, including intimate-partner violence, sexual violence, gender-based violence, bullying and gang violence (e.g. selected therapeutic approaches for high-risk youth) (95,120,140,141)	Partial GRC support
I-51. Contraceptive counselling (e.g. brief sexuality-related communication; counselling on contraception to enable a voluntary, informed choice; referral or provision of contraception if requested post-counselling and legal) (39,102,103,115,142)	Full GRC support
I-52. Counselling on HIV/sexually transmitted infection prevention methods (e.g. brief sexuality-related communication; counselling on correct condom use to enable a voluntary, informed choice; referral or provision of condoms if requested post- counselling and legal) (4,39,101,112,116,142,143)	Partial GRC support
I-54. Referral and support for HIV pre-exposure and/or post-exposure prophylaxis (144–146)	Partial GRC support
I-55. Referral and support for HIV testing services (4,7,94,112,116,144,147)	Full GRC support
I-56. Provision of first aid, i.e. identification and prioritization of problems, provision of immediate care and referral for full medical treatment, if required (e.g. acute conditions such as asthma, diabetes, seizures; bleeding or injury; mental health concerns, including self-harm; life-threatening allergy; poisoning and envenoming; substance abuse) (4,7,98,104,105,118,148-156)	Full GRC support
I-57. Administration of over-the-counter and prescribed medications by a school health-care provider (7,94,96,98,127,149,155,157–161)	Partial GRC support
I -58. Referral and support for pain control and management, e.g. headache (7,94,98, 107,108,153,158)	Full GRC support
I-59. Referral and support for management of non-specific symptoms (e.g. diarrhoea, fever) (4,7,41,94,104,154,155,162)	Partial GRC support
I-61. Referral and support for management of common infections (e.g. ear, eye oral/dental, skin, throat, urinary tract) (4,7,94,107,108,123,133,155)	Partial GRC support
I-62. Referral and support for management of less common infectious diseases (e.g. bone infections, cholera, dengue, dysentery, helminths, joint infections, malaria, meningitis, other neglected tropical diseases, pertussis, pneumonia, rheumatic fever, septicaemia, typhoid fever, tuberculosis, viral encephalitis) (7,32,94,98,102,154,155,163–170)	Partial GRC support
I -64. Referral and support for chronic care of HIV-infected children (4,94,98,103,112,116,143,147,155,162,171–176)	Full GRC support
I-65. Referral and support for management of anaemia (e.g. iron supplementation)	Partial GRC support

Interventions organized by GDG categorization (a-c) and type of health service activity (1-7)	WHO source		
5. CLINICAL ASSESSMENT LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIATE (CONTD)			
I-66. Referral and support for overweight and obesity (94,97,101,105,149)	Full GRC support		
I-67. Referral and support for management of asthma (94,98,105,149,154,155,161)	Full GRC support		
I-68. Referral and support for management of other chronic conditions (e.g. developmental disabilities/delay, diabetes, heart disease, seizures, sickle cell disease) (4,7,94,98,101,104–106,132,149,150,180)	Partial GRC support		
I-69. Referral and support for rehabilitation, habilitation, assistive technology, assistance and support services for injured or disabled individuals (e.g. those who are visually or hearing impaired or have eye/ear problems, who have physical disabilities or motor disorders, who have experienced female genital mutilation (FGM) or who have sports injuries) (4,94,104,121,123–126,151,181–183)	Partial GRC support		
I-70. Referral and support for management of common childhood injuries (e.g. head, chest and abdominal injuries; fractures; wounds) (4,104,105,118,151,152,154,184)	Full GRC support		
I-71. Referral and support for management of burns (4,94,104,153,185)	Other WHO support		
I-72. Referral and support for management of non-fatal drowning and related complications (e.g. respiratory impairment; long-term disability) (94,118)	Partial GRC support		
I-73. Referral and support for victims of violence (e.g. child abuse and neglect by parents or other caregivers; collective violence; gender-based or sexual violence; harmful cultural practices, such as FGM, child marriage and forced marriage; violence among adolescents; and violence by intimate partners) (4,7,39,94,95,98,102,104,106–108,113,117,120,136,143,144,181,184)	Full GRC support		
I-74. Referral and support for management of pregnancy, including the option for pregnant or parenting adolescents to continue or return to school (4,39,102,107,108,115,116,185–187)	Full GRC support		
I-75. Referral and support for management of sexually transmitted infection (4,104,107,108,112,120,143,144,185,188–192)	Full GRC support		
I-76. Provide short-term counselling or crisis intervention focused on mental health or situational concerns (e.g. grief, difficult transitions) (4,19,32,104,108,193,194)	Partial GRC support		
I-78. Referral and support for management of common behavioural disorders in children (e.g. attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder) (4,19,94,98,104,159,195,196)	Full GRC support		
I-79. Referral and support for management of emotional, anxiety and depressive disorders (4,19,32,98,102,104,144,160,181,197–199)	Full GRC support		
I-80. Referral and support for management of eating disorders (e.g. anorexia, bulimia) (19,94,103,107,108)	Other WHO support		
I-81. Referral and support for management of stress (19,32,104,108,144,181,193,194)	Partial GRC support		
I-82. Referral and support for management of self-harm and/or suicide risk (4,184,200)	Full GRC support		

Interventions organized by GDG categorization (a-c) and type of health service activity (1-7)	WHO source
5. CLINICAL ASSESSMENT LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIA	TE (CONTD)
I-83. Referral and support for management of somatoform disorders (i.e. physical symptoms that suggest illness or injury, but which cannot be explained fully by a general medical condition or by the direct effect of a substance) and other psychosomatic conditions (19,32,104,201)	Full GRC support
I-84. Referral and support for management of psychotic disorders (19,32,104,160)	Full GRC support
I-85. Referral and support for management of harmful use of a substance (e.g. alcohol, illicit drugs) (4,102,104,135,136,148,160)	Full GRC support
I-86. Referral and support for management of dependence on a substance (e.g. alcohol, illicit drugs) (4,102,135–139,160)	Full GRC support
I-87. Referral and support for management of substance withdrawal (4,102, 135–139,160)	Full GRC support
6. HEALTH SERVICES MANAGEMENT	
I-25. Appropriate use of data at population level for planning school health (4,94,108,113,121,202)	Other WHO support
I-26. Collection, analysis and use of data on school health service utilization and quality of care, to monitor performance and support quality improvement and for evaluation and planning (4,7,94,96,202)	Other WHO support
I-60. Implementation of and support for a health-facility risk management plan linked with primary, secondary and tertiary care systems (e.g. protocol if school health services should provide essential services during complex emergencies) (4,7,94,99,101,104,105,151,154,188,203-205)	Other WHO support
I-63. Management of infectious disease outbreaks in school, including surveillance, reporting suspected outbreaks to health authorities and following isolation or quarantine protocols (e.g. cholera; conjunctivitis; coronaviruses; dysentery; hand, foot and mouth disease; influenza; meningococcal disease; rubella; scabies; scarlet fever; tuberculosis; typhoid; varicella) (98,100,154,204–212)	Partial GRC support
7. SUPPORT FOR OTHER PILLARS OF A HEALTH-PROMOTING SCHOOL	
I-17. Support for school policies on general health promotion (e.g. related to chronic conditions, hygiene and nutrition) (4,39,94,97,100,101,104,105)	Partial GRC support
I-18. Support for school policies on mental health promotion, including listening services (pre-counselling) (4,7,94,100,102,105,117)	Partial GRC support
I-19. Support for school policies on risk reduction and disease/injury prevention (e.g. prevention of adolescent pregnancy, school violence and substance use) (4,32,39,94,95,102,104,105,112–115,118,119,143,213,214)	Partial GRC support
I-20. Support for school policies that address bullying and harassment (4,7,19,94,102,105,106,114–116,140,184)	Partial GRC support
I-21. Support for school policies on prevention and response to anaphylaxis (4,104,156,215)	Partial GRC support
(4,7,19,94,102,105,106,114–116,140,184) I-21. Support for school policies on prevention and response to anaphylaxis	

Interventions organized by GDG categorization (a-c) and type of health service activity (1-7)	WHO source	
7. SUPPORT FOR OTHER PILLARS OF A HEALTH-PROMOTING SCHOOL (CONTD)		
I-22. Support for other aspects of a health-promoting school (e.g. nutritional content of school feeding programmes; inspection of food safety; engagement with the community to make the school a healthy place) (4,7,41,94,100,101,105,114)	Partial GRC support	
(b) Suitable in school health services everywhere		
1. HEALTH PROMOTION		
I-10. Promotion of responsible parenting skills for all students (4,216)	Other WHO support	
3. SCREENING LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIATE		
I-37. Screening for mental health concerns (e.g. to identify students at risk of poor mental health outcomes and/or who may need monitoring or referral) (4,19,32,104,141,200,217)	Other WHO support	
4. PREVENTIVE INTERVENTIONS (e.g. IMMUNIZATIONS, MASS DRUG ADMINISTRATION)		
I-40. Administration of immunizations recommended for children in some high- risk populations (e.g. cholera, dengue, hepatitis A, meningococcal, rabies, typhoid) <i>(94,100,130,209)</i>	Full GRC support	
5. CLINICAL ASSESSMENT LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIA	TE	
I-43. Psychosocial intervention to promote well-being and functioning (e.g. encouraging and/or assisting a child to: get enough sleep; eat regularly; be physically active; participate in social activities; spend time with trusted friends and family; avoid the use of alcohol, drugs and nicotine; and develop interpersonal skills, emotion regulation and problem-solving and stress management skills) (4,19,100,102,104,117)	Full GRC support	
I-45. Counselling and support for a child's caregiver related to the child's physical and psychosocial development (e.g. nutrition, physical activity, puberty, positive development in adolescence, sexual and reproductive health) (4,7,19,39,94,97,98,101,102,104,105,107,108,143,147,160,180,193,196,197,218)	Partial GRC support	
I-46. Counselling on nutrition, physical activity and a management plan, if needed (7,94,101,104,105,107,108)	Partial GRC support	
7. SUPPORT FOR OTHER PILLARS OF A HEALTH-PROMOTING SCHOOL		
I-23. Training school staff on first aid, hygiene promotion, etc. (4,38,105,110,113,128,151)	Other WHO support	
I-24. Inspection of the physical environment of the school (e.g. prevention of injuries; water, sanitation and hygiene facilities) <i>(4,7,94,98,99,106,113,119,154)</i>	Other WHO support	
I-77. Referral and support for child carers (e.g. students who provide unpaid support to a parent who could not manage without this help)	No WHO source identified	

Interventions organized by GDG categorization (a-c) and type of health service activity (1-7)	WHO source				
7. SUPPORT FOR OTHER PILLARS OF A HEALTH-PROMOTING SCHOOL (CONTD)					
(c) Essential or suitable in school health services in certain geographic areas only					
1. HEALTH PROMOTION					
I-12. Provision and promotion of use of insecticide-treated bed nets (41,94,104,154)	Other WHO support				
3. SCREENING LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIATE					
I-35. Screening for Type II diabetes (127)	Other WHO support				
I-36. Screening for infectious diseases (e.g. tuberculosis; neglected tropical diseases, such as Chagas disease; COVID-19) (114,188,205)	Other WHO support				
4. PREVENTIVE INTERVENTIONS (e.g. IMMUNIZATIONS, MASS DRUG ADMINISTRATION)					
I-39. Administration of immunizations recommended for children residing in certain regions (e.g. Japanese encephalitis) (94,100,130)	Full GRC support				
I-41. Mass drug administration (e.g. for soil-transmitted helminths, schistosomiasis, trachoma, malaria, lymphatic filariasis) (32,41,94,98,100,103,127,154,167,219,220)	Full GRC support				
I-42. Iron, folic acid and other micronutrient supplementation (94,100,102,104,127,177–179)	Full GRC support				
5. CLINICAL ASSESSMENT LEADING TO CARE AND/OR REFERRAL AND SUPPORT AS APPROPRIATE					
I-53. Referral and support for voluntary medical male circumcision (4,103,104,112,116)	Full GRC support				

Note: this list contains the precise wording of each intervention; the wording used in the menu is abbreviated in some instances.

Box 5 lists the seven interventions categorized by the GDG as unsuitable for inclusion within SHS. These fell under the health activity categories of screening

and preventive interventions (immunizations). Importantly, some of these interventions may be suitable within other types of health service.

BOX 5.

Interventions that are unsuitable for inclusion within SHS

The GDG categorized seven interventions as unsuitable for inclusion within SHS. Some of these interventions are supported by WHO guidance for use in other health-care settings; some currently are not mentioned in WHO guidance, while others have WHO recommendations that state they should NOT be implemented in any health-care setting.

WHO guidance supports these interventions in other health-care settings:

- 1. administration of immunizations recommended for children with specific health conditions (such as seasonal influenza for children with specific conditions) (43); and
- 2. screening for substance use (such as tobacco, alcohol and illicit drugs) (217).

WHO guidance documents currently do not mention these interventions:

- 3. screening for hypertension;
- 4. screening for scoliosis; and
- 5. screening for other chronic conditions that may be undiagnosed, such as asthma and sickle cell disease.

WHO guidance recommends NOT to implement these interventions:

- 6. (universal) screening for maltreatment by a parent or guardian (95); and
- 7. (universal) screening for exposure to intimate-partner violence (120).

5.3 Final intervention categorization and WHO sources of the interventions

Table 8 summarizes the final categorization and WHO sources for the 94 interventions that were considered for SHS inclusion by the GDG. Notably, 61 of 87 interventions that the GDG categorized as essential or suitable have full or partial GRC support. The review was unable to identify an explicit recommendation in a global WHO source for one of the interventions that was added to the list of interventions by the GDG (I-77. Referral and support for child carers, e.g. students who provide unpaid support to a parent who could not manage without this help).

The majority of these interventions – both GRCapproved and other – have been broadly evaluated for 5–19-year-olds and not specifically for delivery within SHS. For further information, Web Annex H provides examples of interventions for each type of "WHO source", with relevant support from the compendium of interventions with WHO evidence in Web Annex A.

Table 8. Number of interventions by WHO source and GDG categorization as essential, suitable or unsuitable within SHS, by location

WHO status	Categorization as essential/suitable/unsuitable by location (number of interventions)				Total
	Essential everywhere	Suitable everywhere	Essential or suitable in certain geographic areas only	UNSUITABLE	
Full GRC	26	2	4	1	33
Partial GRC	27	2	0	0	29
Other WHO	18	4	3	1	26
No WHO source identified	0	۱	0	5	6
Total	71	9	7	7	94

Chapter 6

Implementation of the WHO guideline on SHS



6.1 Dissemination of the WHO guideline on SHS

The current guideline is being disseminated as a printed publication and also is posted with its Web Annexes on the WHO website. It will be disseminated though a broad network of international partners, including WHO country and regional offices, ministries of education and health, WHO collaborating centres, universities and other United Nations agencies and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs). The guideline has been developed in English and will be translated into other WHO official languages for wider dissemination, in collaboration with WHO regional offices. Use of digital technology will also be explored in the dissemination and implementation of the WHO guideline on SHS. Box 6 describes ways in which digital interventions may be used in disseminating and implementing the guideline. Section 6.2 briefly describes other implementation considerations, but it is expected that detailed WHO SHS implementation guidance materials will be produced in the coming years to facilitate operationalization of the guideline's recommendation and intervention menu.

BOX 6.

Use of digital technology to support dissemination and implementation of the guideline

WHO has identified a wide range of digital health approaches that can be useful within health systems (221,222), some of which might also be useful in WHO guideline on SHS dissemination and implementation, depending on the national context. Examples of digital technology that might be explored for potential SHS usefulness include (223):

- students and families: targeted and untargeted communication (including transmitted health information or health event alerts); citizenbased reporting (such as reporting of health system feedback or public health events);
- health-care providers: provision of training and educational content to health workers; provider decision support; telemedicine (remote monitoring of student health, for example); student registration and health records; tracking

of patients'/clients' health status and services; provider communication; referral coordination; planning and scheduling; training; medication management; laboratory and diagnostic imaging management;

- health system managers: human resource management; stock notification and commodity management; public health event notification; health financing; equipment and asset management; facility management; and
- data services: data collection, management, and use; location mapping.

Many of these activities can be achieved through mobile devices, making them applicable in lowresource settings where extensive computerized systems may not be available or feasible. However, they can also be deployed through non-mobile digital devices, such as desktop computers (221).

6.2 National adaptation of the WHO guideline on SHS

This is a global guideline, so WHO Member States are expected to adapt the SHS recommendation and intervention menu depending on their context and local feasibility. WHO regional and country offices will be able to assist with these processes.

6.2.1 SHS within broader national health strategies

SHS programmes already exist in some form in most countries, so in most cases governments will not be creating a national SHS programme from scratch, but rather evaluating and strategically improving on an existing programme to become more comprehensive and evidence-based. In either case, development or improvement of national SHS programming needs to take place within the broader national strategizing for health. WHO has produced practical guidance on national strategizing for health that can be adapted in such efforts (224–226). For example, the 2016 WHO Strategizing national health in the 21st century: a handbook publication (225) outlines key steps in national health strategizing that can be adapted to national SHS strategizing, including:

- population consultation on needs and expectations;
- intersectoral situation analysis;
- priority-setting for national policies, strategies and plans;
- strategic planning (transforming priorities into plans);
- operational planning (transforming plans into action);
- estimating the cost implications of a policy, strategy or plan;
- · budgeting for health;
- monitoring, evaluation and review of policies, strategies and plans;
- · law, regulation and strategizing;
- · strategizing for health at subnational level;
- intersectoral planning for health and equity; and
- · strategizing in distressed contexts.

6.2.2 An organizational model of SHS

Fig. 5 provides a basic organizational model of SHS that shows the key stakeholders involved in

SHS programming. From national to local levels, it is important that SHS are led through close collaboration of the health and education sectors. Collaboration between the health and education sectors is ideal for implementing all pillars of HPS, but to effectively provide comprehensive SHS, genuine, close collaboration of the health and education sectors is critical.

6.2.2.1 National policy, planning and financing

In addition to the health and education sectors, other sectors also can play a valuable role in policy, planning and financing at national level, including other government ministries (such as social services, and water and sanitation), the private sector and NGOs.

6.2.2.2 Local implementation

SHS can be implemented through different structures at local level. Most commonly, they are school-based health services - that is, services provided by on-site health personnel only, by both on-site and visiting health personnel or by visiting health personnel only (8). However, SHS may also (or instead) be provided through school-linked services; these are SHS that are not physically located within the school but are provided outside of school premises (at primary care facilities or community centres, for instance). These schoollinked SHS facilities and/or providers have a formal agreement with the school administration to provide health services to their students/learners. Trained health workers (like nurses, clinical officers, doctors, medical assistants, physical therapists, dentists, psychologists and counsellors) are expected to be the main SHS staff. They should work closely with education sector staff (including school principals, administrators and teachers) and staff from other parts of the health and social services (such as primary health care, specialist services or social workers). In addition, they need to communicate directly with parents to coordinate a student's care related to, for example, referral and follow-up.

6.2.2.3 Beneficiaries

The primary beneficiaries of SHS are students/ learners. In addition, students and their families can help to inform and monitor SHS through participatory research and other activities.

Fig. 5. An organizational model of SHS



Improved coverage and quality of health services, and improvement in students' health and education outcomes, with equity

^a SHS that are provided outside of school premises by facilities and/or providers that have a formal agreement with the school administration to provide health services to their students/learners.
6.2.3 Prioritizing health conditions and interventions within SHS

National governments need to identify and address their particular SHS programming priorities, because:

- the nature, scale and impact of child and adolescent health needs are unique in each country;
- all governments face resource constraints, so they must make difficult choices to ensure their SHS resources are used most effectively; and
- the structure and functioning of the health system as a whole varies between countries.

There are several global documents that provide guidance on how national governments can prioritize health conditions and interventions for their population. These can be adapted by policy-makers and programme developers who are deciding which interventions should be included within SHS. Box 7 lists some key resources that can be used in this process.

For example, the global AA-HA! Guidance (4) and its annexes and appendices (19) outline how governments can prioritize adolescent health interventions through three steps: a needs assessment, a landscape analysis, and a prioritization exercise. Similarly, SHS policy-makers and programme developers can evaluate their country's particular child and adolescent health needs and context before developing – or improving upon – SHS programming. This would include:

• a needs assessment to identify which conditions have the greatest impact on child and adolescent health and development, both as a whole (by age, sex and part of the country) and among those most vulnerable;

- a landscape analysis of:
 - existing school health programmes, policies, legislation, capacity and resources and how these relate to the rest of the health and education systems within the country;
 - current global and local guidance on evidencebased interventions: a starting point for this process can be the menu of interventions (Table 6 and Web Annex H) and its supporting compendium (see Web Annex A), which compiles excerpts from WHO guidance specific to each intervention and cites WHO sources that can be accessed for further information; and
- priority-setting that considers:
 - the severity, frequency, scale and consequences of particular burdens;
 - the needs of the most vulnerable adolescents;
 - the existence of effective, appropriate, acceptable, feasible and/or cost-effective interventions to reduce burdens;
 - the availability of resources and capacity to implement or expand priority interventions equitably within SHS; and
 - GDG intervention categorization of interventions as essential in SHS everywhere, suitable in SHS everywhere, essential or suitable in SHS in certain geographic areas only, and UNSUITABLE IN SHS EVERYWHERE (menu of interventions in Table 6 and Web Annex H; compendium of interventions in Web Annex A).

Fig. 6 provides an overview of national SHS intervention priority setting.

BOX 7.

Resources for prioritizing interventions within national SHS programming

In addition to the menu (Table 6 and Web Annex H) and the compendium of interventions (see Web Annex A), the following publications provide generic guidance on identification of disadvantaged subpopulations and/or priority setting within national health programming. These documents may be of assistance to stakeholders who need to prioritize interventions within national SHS programming:

- WHO, Making fair choices on the path to universal health coverage, 2014 (227);
- WHO, Strategizing national health in the 21st century: a handbook, Chapter 4, 2016 (225);
- WHO, Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!) Guidance, Chapter 4, 2017 (4);

- WHO, Handbook for conducting an adolescent health services barriers assessment (AHSBA), with a focus on disadvantaged adolescents, 2019 (6);
- WHO, Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!): a manual to facilitate the process of developing national adolescent health strategies and plans, 2019 (226);
- Baltussen et al., Priority setting for universal health coverage, 2016 (228); and
- Tromp & Baltussen, Mapping of multiple criteria for priority setting of health interventions, 2012 (229).

Fig. 6. Steps in setting intervention priorities for national SHS

1. NEEDS ASSESSMENT to identify which conditions have the greatest impact on child and adolescent health and development	 As a whole (by age, sex and part of the country) Among those most vulnerable
2. LANDSCAPE ANALYSIS to clarify what is already being done related to SHS and by whom	 Review of existing school health programmes, policies, legislation, capacity and resources and how these relate to the rest of the health and education system within the country Review of current global and local guidance on evidence-based interventions, including this guideline's menu of interventions (Table 6) and its supporting compendium of published WHO evidence (Web Annex A)
3. PRIORITY SETTING to identify which conditions to target in SHS and which set of interventions to employ	 The urgency, frequency, scale and consequences of particular burdens The most vulnerable adolescents The existence of effective, appropriate and acceptable interventions to reduce burdens The availability of resources and capacity to implement or expand priority interventions equitably within SHS GDG intervention categorization of interventions as essential in SHS everywhere, suitable in SHS everywhere, essential or suitable in SHS in certain geographic areas only, and UNSUITABLE IN SHS EVERYWHERE and WHO supporting evidence



6.2.4 Implementation considerations to ensure coverage, quality, equity, and confidentiality

Effective SHS coverage is the proportion of a student population that needs SHS and obtains them in a timely manner and at a level of quality necessary to have the desired effect and potential health gains (5). SHS quality is the degree to which SHS increase the likelihood of desired student health outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge (7). SHS equity is the absence of avoidable, unfair or remediable differences within a student population. It implies that all students should have a fair opportunity to use SHS and no one is disadvantaged from doing so. More broadly, SHS may promote health equity by enabling disadvantaged students to receive health care they may not otherwise receive. This could be an important step towards achieving UHC and leaving no children and adolescents behind (6). The potential for SHS to increase health equity is described more in Box 8.

Confidentiality is another key area of SHS programming that warrants special consideration,

as in any health services for children and adolescents. It is important that national SHS programmes establish procedures to ensure:

- information about students is not disclosed to third parties;
- personal information, including student records, are held securely;
- there are clear requirements for the organization of the physical space of SHS facilities, and actions to ensure visual and auditory privacy during registration and consultations with a SHS provider; and
- consultations with adolescent students accompanied by parents or guardians routinely include time alone with the adolescent (4).

In addition, national laws and policies should be reviewed to indicate situations, clearly and unambiguously, when confidentiality may be breached within SHS, with whom and for what reasons (disclosure of sexual abuse of a minor, or significant suicidal thoughts, self-harm or homicidal intent, for instance). Standard operating procedures should be established for situations in which confidentiality might be breached due to legal requirements (4).

BOX 8. How SHS can increase health equity

SHS may promote child and adolescent health equity by enabling students to access health services they may not otherwise receive (6). Disadvantaged students – such as those from low-income or socially marginalized populations – are less likely to have medical care and more likely to develop chronic health problems. They may be more chronically stressed and tired and be hungrier than other students, and more likely to have impaired vision and hearing.

One review of 46 studies mainly evaluated schoolbased health clinics serving urban, low-income, and racial or ethnic minority high-school students in the United States of America. It found that student use of school-based health centres was associated with improved educational (measured by grade-point average, grade promotion, suspension and non-completion rates) and health-related (vaccination and other preventive services, asthma morbidity, emergency department use and hospital admissions, contraceptive use among females, prenatal care, birth weight, illegal substance use and alcohol consumption) outcomes (24). In addition, more services and more hours of availability were associated with greater reductions in emergency department overuse.

Given this review primarily considered SHS in the United States of America, its findings are limited and may not be generalizable to other countries, especially LMIC. Nonetheless, the findings are promising in suggesting that SHS can increase needed medical services for disadvantaged children and thereby advance health equity, particularly if achieving health equity is prioritized within SHS programming.

6.2.5 Using the menu of interventions and its supporting compendium

Box 9 provides a simplified, hypothetical example of how the menu (Table 6 and Web Annex H) and

compendium of interventions (see Web Annex A) can be used by stakeholders when developing or updating national SHS programming.

BOX 9.

Hypothetical example of how to use the menu and compendium of interventions while developing national SHS programming

Taking a simplified example in a hypothetical country, first, representatives at a high level in the health and education sectors agree to develop and co-lead a national SHS programme and then bring together an intersectoral working group of NGO and private stakeholders to work on this. The working group initiates a health needs assessment for school-age children, followed by a SHS landscape analysis and finally a SHS priority-setting exercise.

The findings of the needs assessment identified many conditions or issues that could be addressed within SHS, including nutrition, disability, child maltreatment and stress, which will be the examples discussed further.

Next, during the landscape analysis the government assesses what is currently being done for these conditions and identifies possible interventions that it would like to introduce or strengthen within SHS, including provision of nutrition education, screening for maltreatment by a parent or guardian, referral and support for disability, and referral and support for suicide risk/self-harm.

When consulting the WHO guideline on SHS menu of interventions (Table 6), the national stakeholders note that three of the interventions (I-13, I-34 and I-69) are categorized as **essential in SHS everywhere**; they then review the detailed guidance on each of the three interventions in Web Annex A.

In addition, the national stakeholders see that the fourth intervention (Screening for maltreatment by a parent or guardian) is identified as UNSUITABLE IN SHS EVERYWHERE in Box 5 of this guideline. Box 5 cites the WHO guidelines for the health sector response to child maltreatment (95), so they review that source directly and see it recommends that health-care providers **do not** use a universal screening approach to identify possible child maltreatment. Moreover, they learn that WHO recommends three other interventions for the health sector response to child maltreatment. They fully review these three interventions and decide to adopt them within their national SHS programme. They are:

- health-care providers should be alert to the clinical features associated with child maltreatment and associated risk factors and assess for child maltreatment without putting the child at increased risk;
- 2. health-care providers should consider exposure to child maltreatment when assessing children with conditions that may be caused or complicated by maltreatment, in order to improve diagnosis/identification and subsequent care, without putting the child at increased risk; and
- 3. written information on child maltreatment should be available in health-care settings in the form of posters and pamphlets or leaflets (with appropriate warnings about taking them home in case that could compromise safety).

Table 9 provides a simplified summary of information compiled from these sources about the four interventions. Based on these findings, the national policy-makers and programme developers decide to continue with further development and planning related to three of the four menu interventions in national SHS programming (I-13, I-34 and I-69), but they reject the fourth intervention for inclusion within SHS.

xample of how the guideline and its menu and compendium of interventions can be used when considering interventions for inclusion	S programme
Table 9. Simplified example of how the guideline ar	within a national SHS programme

MENU OF INTERVENTIONS	Bc	Web Annex A. Compendium of interventions Box 5. Interventions that are unsuitable for inclusion within SHS	SHS	Hypothetical national decision
Short name: categorization	Long name	Example of specific WHO guidance	Citation source	
I-13. Provision of nutrition education Essential in SHS everywhere	I-13. Provision of health education about nutrition	I–I3 - PA265. High-intensity school-based interventions that focus on diet and/or physical activity, are comprehensive and multi- component and include: curriculum on diet and/or physical activity taught by trained teachers; supportive school environment/policies; a physical activity programme; a parental/family component; (and/ or) healthy food options available through school food services: cafeteria, vending machines, etc. (101)	WHO (2009). Interventions on diet and physical activity: what works (101)	Further consult the report <i>(101)</i> and other sources under I–13 in the compendium for detailed adaptation of this evidence-based intervention within SHS
I-69. Referral to rehabilitation and support for disability Essential in SHS everywhere	I-69. Referral and support for rehabilitation, habilitation, assistive technology, assistance and support services for injured or disabled individuals (e.g. those who are visually or hearing impaired or have eye/ ear problems, who have physical disabilities or motor disorders or who have sports injuries)	I-69 - PA246. Invest in specific programmes and services for people with disabilities (e.g. In addition to mainstream services, some people with disabilities may require access to specific measures, such as rehabilitation , support services or training. Rehabilitation – including assistive technologies such as wheelchairs, hearing aids and white canes – improves functioning and independence. A range of well-regulated assistance and support services in the community can meet needs for care, enabling people to live independently and to participate in the economic, social and cultural lives of their communities While there is a need for more services, there is also a need for better, more accessible, flexible, integrated and well-coordinated multidisciplinary services, particularly at times of transition such as between child and adult services) (182)	WHO, World Bank (2011). World report on disability 2011 (<i>182</i>)	Further consult the report (182) and other sources under 1-69 in the compendium for detailed adaptation of this evidence- based intervention within SHS
I-82. Referral and support for suicide risk/self-harm Essential in SHS everywhere	I-82 Referral and support for management of suicide risk/self-harm	I-82 - PA207. The 2016 WHO Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) intervention guide recommends assessing comprehensively everyone presenting with thoughts, plans or acts of self-harm. The guide recommends asking any person over 10 years of age who is experiencing a priority mental, neurological or substance-use disorder – or chronic pain or acute emotional distress – about his or her thoughts, plans or acts related to self- harm and suicide (106)	WHO (2016). mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP). Version 2.0 (106)	Further consult the guide (<i>106</i>) and other sources under I-82 in the compendium for detailed adaptation of this evidence-based intervention within SHS
Screening for maltreatment by a parent or guardian UNSUITABLE IN SHS EVERYWHERE	Screening for maltreatment by a parent or guardian	(Box 5) Health-care providers should not use a universal screening approach (such as a standard instrument, set of criteria or questions asked of all children in health-care encounters) to identify possible child maltreatment (95)	WHO (2019). Technical report: WHO guidelines for the health sector response to child maltreatment (95)	Do not include this intervention in SHS programming Review the report (95) and decide on other (evidence- based) interventions to address child maltreatment

The references in Web Annex A list the 149 WHO publications that are the sources of evidencebased procedures and activities detailed in the compendium. This list includes many WHO guidelines and other global guidance documents that can be accessed online; some examples are shown in Box 10.

6.2.6 Monitoring and evaluation of implementation of the WHO guideline on SHS

Monitoring and evaluation should be built into any processes for implementing this guideline to determine effectiveness, document important lessons for uptake and guide further implementation.

WHO primarily will use the periodic Global Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child and

Adolescent Health Policy Survey to evaluate how the SHS recommendation is included in national policies. This survey is conducted every 2–3 years. Other surveys will also be consulted to evaluate SHS inclusion in national policies, curricula and training courses. WHO will collaborate with national authorities to include questions about the new recommendation and how educators, health staff and other community members have experienced implementing it within relevant routine national training assessments, health surveillance and supervision practices. Progress towards implementation and any barriers encountered will be tracked.

WHO and UNESCO have developed global standards and indicators for health-promoting schools and systems (3,230). As one of the eight standards relate to SHS, monitoring and evaluation tools and indicators for SHS have been suggested (3).

BOX 10.

A selection of WHO resources for more in-depth guidance on evidence-based interventions

The references in Web Annex A provide information for the 149 WHO publications that are cited in the compendium of interventions. This resource list can be accessed for further information on a range of topics relevant to SHS; some examples are shown below.

- WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: guidelines for implementation, 2009 (137)
- WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive health outcomes among adolescents in developing countries, 2011 (115)
- IMAI district clinician manual: hospital care for adolescents and adults: guidelines for the management of illnesses with limited resources, 2012 (133)
- Persisting pain in children package: WHO guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of persisting pain in children with medical illnesses, 2012 (158)
- Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: guidelines for primary health care in low resource settings, 2012 (149)
- Guideline for the management of conditions specifically related to stress, 2013 (193)
- Guideline: updates on the management of severe acute malnutrition in infants and children, 2013 (173)

- Guidelines for the treatment of malaria, third edition, 2015 (167)
- Update of the Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guideline for mental, neurological and substance use disorders: WHO mhGAP guideline update, May 2015, 2015 (160)
- WHO guideline on the use of safety-engineered syringes for intramuscular, intradermal and subcutaneous injections in health-care settings, 2015 (157)
- Updated guideline: paediatric emergency triage, assessment and treatment: care of critically ill children, 2016 (150)
- Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations – 2016 update, 2016 (116)
- Guideline: daily iron supplementation in adult women and adolescent girls, 2016 (178)
- WHO guideline: daily iron supplementation in infants and children, 2016 (177)
- Responding to children and adolescents who have been sexually abused: WHO clinical guidelines, 2017 (144)
- Guideline: implementing effective actions for improving adolescent nutrition, 2018 (103)
- WHO guidelines for the health sector response to child maltreatment. Technical report, 2019 (95).

6.3 Further guidance and research needed

6.3.1 SHS guidance

It is hoped that the WHO guideline on SHS will be part of a series of detailed global guidance documents on school health. This guideline attempts to set the stage for future guidance by recommending that comprehensive SHS should be implemented, because rigorous evidence suggests SHS are both effective and acceptable. This guideline also provides a menu of 87 interventions that should be considered for inclusion within SHS, with supporting WHO evidence, and further identifies seven interventions that are unsuitable for inclusion within SHS. While some guidance on intervention prioritization is provided to national governments in this guideline, this is broad.

In the coming years, further WHO guidance is expected on national SHS strategies and programming, intervention prioritization, implementation, and monitoring and evaluation. For example, while this guideline establishes that health sector involvement and medical expertise is indispensable in SHS at all levels of a national system, the optimal leadership roles and collaboration between health, education and other sectors in national policies and local SHS programming warrants further guidance. The development of such guidance will depend in part on further research, as described below.

6.3.2 SHS research

Given the large number of health areas and activities that potentially can be included in SHS, there are many topics for which further research and evidence is needed to inform SHS. Based on research gaps that were identified during development of this guideline, the GDG produced the following list of research needed. This list of research topics is not exhaustive, but instead provides important examples.

6.3.2.1 Governance and organization

Evaluation is required of:

- outcomes associated with different forms of SHS governance (such as education versus healthsector lead, at national and local levels);
- different infrastructure or organizational models that result from differences in governance;
- outcomes associated with different SHS healthworker qualifications (like nurse and medical assistant) and different compositions of SHS teams (including qualifications, specialties and sectors);

- SHS management, including transparency, accountability and monitoring data at school and national levels, such as whether inclusion of simple, pragmatic monitoring indicators improves outcomes; and
- how effectively to meet the health needs of disadvantaged children and adolescents – including those who are out of school – with quality, coverage and equity.

6.3.2.2 Standards of care, delivery modes and effectiveness outcomes

Research is required on:

- · standards of care and effectiveness outcomes;
- service delivery modes and effectiveness outcomes;
- sex and age differentiation of effectiveness outcomes, including for student age groups of 5–9, 10–14 and 15–19 years, by sex;
- possible harms of SHS (related, for example, to confidentiality);
- overall impact on well-being (beyond measurement of 1–2 outcomes);
- the combined effects of an SHS package on multiple outcomes, including educational outcomes;
- the combined effects of the six pillars of HPS on multiple outcomes; and
- quality and ethical issues in SHS, such as inclusion and confidentiality.

While randomized controlled trials may be the gold standard for some forms of medical research, they may not be feasible for evaluating social or public health interventions such as SHS due to their great cost, time and complex challenges, including randomizing schools or cities to comprehensive SHS. Instead, the GDG suggests adoption of an implementation-science approach using other methods, such as controlled before-after studies and interrupted time-series studies.

6.3.2.3 Acceptability outcomes

The following are required:

- qualitative research on student and family satisfaction or SHS acceptability;
- participatory research engaging young people on SHS priorities, best practices, acceptability and equity; and
- sex and age differentiation of acceptability outcomes for, for example, student age groups of 5-9, 10-14 and 15-19 years, by sex.

6.3.2.4 Intervention implementation research

Research is required on:

- how to improve SHS stewardship/leadership;
- assessment of training organization and fidelity of interventions;
- implementation of SHS in humanitarian or fragile settings; and
- how best to adapt SHS during a crisis, such as telemedicine during an epidemic (100,205).

6.3.2.5 Cost-effectiveness

The following is required:

• cost-effectiveness studies on, for instance, minimal investment needed to maximize effects.

6.3.2.6 LMIC

The following are required:

- controlled studies and/or prospective studies in LMIC, including in diverse cultural settings, such as sub-Saharan Africa and south-east Asia; and
- case studies of SHS in different countries from all WHO regions.

6.3.2.7 Innovation

Research is required on:

- telehealth or telemedicine technology (including school to tertiary care connections, and remote/ rural student mental health "visits" with urban specialists); and
- other relatively low-cost SHS options, such as task-sharing and mobile clinics.

6.4 Updating the WHO guideline on SHS

The Steering Group, in consultation with GDG members and technical experts, will continue to follow developments in research on SHS, particularly in relation to questions for which the certainty from the existing evidence is low or very low. If new evidence makes the evidence review underpinning this guideline out of date, WHO will coordinate an update following the formal procedures of the WHO handbook for guideline development (2).



References¹

- Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64(4):383–94. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.026.
- 2. WHO handbook for guideline development, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/145714).
- 3. Making every school a health promoting school. Global standards and indicators for health promoting schools and systems. Geneva: World Health Organization and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; in press.
- Global accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who. int/maternal_child_adolescent/topics/ adolescence/framework-accelerated-action/ en/).
- Tanahashi T. Health service coverage and its evaluation. Bull World Health Organ. 1978;56(2):295–303. PMID:96953.
- Handbook for conducting an adolescent health services barriers assessment (AHSBA) with a focus on disadvantaged adolescents: knowing which adolescents are being left behind on the path to universal health coverage, and why. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/310990).
- Standards for improving the quality of care for children and young adolescents in health facilities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/maternal_child_ adolescent/documents/quality-standards-childadolescent/en/).
- Baltag V, Pachyna A, Hall J. Global overview of school health services: data from 102 countries. Health Behav Policy Rev. 2015;2(4):268–83. doi:10.14485/HBPR.2.4.4.

- 9. Langford R, Bonell CP, Jones HE, Pouliou T, Murphy SM, Waters E et al. The WHO health promoting school framework for improving the health and well-being of students and their academic achievement. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014; 4, art. CD008958. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008958.pub2.
- Making every school a health promoting school. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www. who.int/activities/making-every-school-ahealth-promoting-school).
- Clark H, Coll-Seck AM, Banerjee A, Peterson S, Dalglish SL, Ameratunga S et al. A future for the world's children? A WHO-UNICEF-Lancet commission. Lancet 2020;395(10224):605–58. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32540-1.
- The state of the world population 2018. The power of choice: reproductive rights and the demographic transition. New York (NY): United Nations Fund for Population Activities (UNFPA); 2018 (https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/ books/9789210474108).
- Levels and trends in child mortality 2019: estimates developed by the UN inter-agency group for child mortality estimation. New York (NY): United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF); 2019 (https://www.unicef.org/reports/levels-andtrends-child-mortality-report-2019).
- Global health estimates (GHE). In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/ healthinfo/global_burden_disease/en/).
- 15. Progress in partnership: 2017 progress report on the 'Every woman every child global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health'. Geneva: World Health Organization; (acting as the host organization for the Partnership for Maternal, Newborn & Child Health) 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258504).
- Patton GC, Sawyer SM, Santelli JS, Ross DA, Afifi R, Allen NB et al. Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. Lancet 2016;387(10036):2423–78. doi:10.1016/S0140– 6736(16)00579–1.
- Jensen BB, Dür W, Buijs G. The application of salutogenesis in schools. In: Mittelmark MB, Sagy S, Eriksson M, Bauer GF, Pelikan JM, Lindström B et al., editors. The handbook of salutogenesis. Heidelberg: Springer; 2017.

- Ross DA, Hinton R, Melles-Brewer M, Engel D, Zeck W, Fagan L et al. Adolescent well-being: a definition and conceptual framework. J Adolesc Health 2020;67(4):472–6. doi:10.1016/ jadohealth.2020.06.042.
- Global accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation: annexes 1–6 and appendices I–IV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/ maternal_child_adolescent/documents/globalaa-ha-annexes.pdf).
- 20. Making health services adolescent friendly: developing national quality standards for adolescent friendly health services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/75217/9789241503594_eng. pdf?sequence=1).
- 21. School enrollment, primary (% net). In: World Bank [website]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2020 (https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.PRM. NENR).
- 22. School enrollment, secondary (% net). In: World Bank [website]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2020 (https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.SEC. NENR).
- 23. International standard of classification of education: ISCED 1997. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO); 2006 (http://uis.unesco.org/sites/ default/files/documents/international-standardclassification-of-education-1997-en_0.pdf).
- Knopf JA, Finnie RKC, Peng Y, Hahn RA, Truman BI, Vernon-Smiley M et al. School-based health centers to advance health equity: a community guide systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2016;51(1):114–26. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.01.009.
- Global school health initiatives: achieving health and education outcomes. Report of a meeting, Bangkok, Thailand, 23–25 November 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/globalschool-health-initiatives-achieving-health-andeducation-outcomes).
- 26. Monitoring and evaluation guidance for school health programmes: eight core indicators to support FRESH (Focusing Resources on Effective School Health). Paris: UNESCO; 2014 (https:// hivhealthclearinghouse.unesco.org/sites/

default/files/resources/FRESH_M%26E_CORE_ INDICATORS.pdf).

- Focusing resources on effective school health: a FRESH start to enhancing the quality and equity of education. World education forum 2000, final report. Paris: World Health Organization, UNESCO, UNICEF, World Bank; 2000 (https://unesdoc. unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000124086).
- 28. What is a health promoting school? In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/ health-promoting-schools/overview/en/).
- 29. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. Social determinants of health discussion paper 2. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241500852).
- Fernandes M, Aurino E. Identifying an essential package for school-age child health: economic analysis. In: Bundy DAP, de Silva N, Horton S, Jamison DT, Patton GC, editors. Child and adolescent health and development, third edition. Washington (DC): International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, World Bank; 2017.
- Sheehan P, Sweeny K, Rasmussen B, Wils A, Friedman HS, Mahon J et al. Building the foundations for sustainable development: a case for global investment in the capabilities of adolescents. Lancet 2017;390(10104):1792–806. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30872-3.
- 32. Improving health through schools: national and international strategies. Compiled and edited by Isolde Birdthistle. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/66314).
- Making every school a health-promoting school. Implementation guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; in press.
- 34. International technical guidance on sexuality education: an evidence-informed approach, revised edition. Paris: UNESCO; 2018 (https://www. unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/ITGSE.pdf).
- 35. Water sanitation and hygiene (WASH) in schools: a companion to the Child Friendly Schools manual. New York (NY): UNICEF; 2012 (https://www. heart-resources.org/doc_lib/water-sanitationhygiene-wash-schools-companion-childfriendly-schools-manual/).

- WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241597906).
- WASH in the 2030 agenda: new global indicators for drinking water, sanitation and hygiene. Geneva: World Health Organization, UNICEF; 2017 (https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/ monitoring/coverage/wash-post-2015-brochure/ en/).
- Oral health promotion: an essential element of a health-promoting school. WHO information series on school health document eleven. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (WHO/ NMH/NPH/ORH/School/03.3; https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/70207).
- Family life, reproductive health: key elements of a health-promoting school. WHO information series on school health document eight. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/42816).
- School deworming at a glance. WHO and World Bank joint statement 2003. Geneva: World Health Organization, World Bank; 2003 (https://www.who. int/intestinal_worms/resources/joint_statement_ WHO_World_Bank/en/).
- 41. Malaria prevention and control: an important responsibility of a health-promoting school. WHO information series on school health document thirteen. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43734).
- 42. Guide to introducing HPV vaccine into national immunization programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/ immunization/documents/ISBN_9789241549769/ en/).
- 43. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper, May 2017/Vaccins contre les papillomavirus humains: note de synthèse de l'OMS, Mai 2017. Weekly Epidemiological Record/Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire 2017;92(19):241–68 (https://www.who.int/ immunization/policy/position_papers/hpv/en/).
- School and adolescent health services in 30 European countries: a description of structure and functioning, and of health outcomes and costs, July 2018: Commission Deliverable D17 (3.1) for the European Commission. 2018: Models of Child Health Appraised. Brussels: European Commission; 2018.

- Guidelines for declaration of interests (WHO experts). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/advisory_ group/callforexperts_nugag_policyactions2017_ guideline_declarationofinterests.pdf).
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med. 2009;6(7):e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.
- Levinson J, Kohl K, Baltag V, Ross DA. Investigating the effectiveness of school health services delivered by a health provider: a systematic review of systematic reviews. PLoS One 2019;14(6):e0212603. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0212603.
- Domitrovich CE, Bradshaw CP, Greenberg MT, Embry D, Poduska JM Ialongo NS. Integrated models of school-based prevention: logic and theory. Psychol Sch. 2010;47(1):71–88. doi:10.1002/ pits.20452.
- 49. Montgomery P, Ross DA, Patterson J, Bach-Mortensen AM. The effectiveness and acceptability of comprehensive and multicomponent school health services: a systematic review. J Adolesc Health. In press.
- 50. GRADEpro recommendations assessment. In: GRADEpro [website]. Hamilton (ON): GRADEpro; 2021 (https://www.gradeworkinggroup.org).
- 51. Rehfuess EA, Stratil JM, Scheel IB, Portela A, Norris SL, Baltussen R. The WHO-INTEGRATE evidence to decision framework version 1.0: integrating WHO norms and values and a complexity perspective. BMJ Glob Health 2019;4(suppl. 1):e000844. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000844.
- 52. Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M et al. ROBINS-1: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. BMJ 2016;355:i4919. doi:10.1136/bmj.i4919.
- 53. CASP checklist: 12 questions to help you make sense of an economic evaluation. Oxford: Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP); 2018 (https:// casp-uk.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CASP-Economic-Evaluation-Checklist-2018.pdf).
- 54. Thomas J, Harden A, Newman M. Synthesis: combining results systematically and appropriately. In: Gough D, Oliver S, Thomas J, editors. An introduction to systematic reviews. London: Sage; 2012.

- Balshem H, Helfand M, Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J et al. GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64(4):401–6. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.015.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Alonso-Coello P et al. GRADE guidelines: 9. Rating up the quality of evidence. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64(12):1311–6. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.06.004.
- 57. Lewin S, Bohren M, Rashidian A, Munthe-Kaas H, Glenton C, Colvin CJ, Garside R et al. Applying GRADE-CERQual to qualitative evidence synthesis findings-paper 2: how to make an overall CERQual assessment of confidence and create a summary of qualitative findings table. Implement Sci. 2018;13(suppl. 1), art. 10. doi:10.1186/s13012-017-0689-2.
- Lewin S, Booth A, Glenton C, Munthe-Kaas H, Rashidian A, Wainwright M et al. Applying GRADE-CERQual to qualitative evidence synthesis findings: introduction to the series. Implement Sci. 2018;13(suppl. 1), art. 2. doi:10.1186/s13012-017-0688-3.
- 59. Atkins, D, Best D, Briss PA, Eccles M, Falck-Yetter Y, Flottrop S et al. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. BMJ 2004;328(7454):1490. doi:10.1136/bmj.328.7454.1490.
- 60. Guo JJ, Jang R, Keller KN, McCracken AL, Pan W, Cluxton RJ. Impact of school-based health centers on children with asthma. J Adolesc Health 2005;37(4):266–74. doi:10.1016/j. jadohealth.2004.09.006.
- 61. Rodriguez E, Rivera DA, Perlroth D, Becker E, Wang NE, Landau M. School nurses' role in asthma management, school absenteeism, and cost savings: a demonstration project. J Sch Health 2013;83(12):842–50. doi:10.1111/josh.12102.
- 62. Van Cura M. The relationship between schoolbased health centers, rates of early dismissal from school, and loss of seat time. J Sch Health 2010;80(8):371–7. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2010.00516.x.
- 63. Walker SC, Kerns SEU, Lyon AR, Bruns EJ, Cosgrove TJ. Impact of school-based health center use on academic outcomes. J Adolesc Health 2010;46(3):251–7. doi:10.1016/j. jadohealth.2009.07.002.
- 64. Kocoglu D, Emiroglu ON. The impact of comprehensive school nursing services on students' academic performance. J Caring Sci. 2017;6(1):5–17. doi:10.15171/jcs.2017.002.

- 65. Guo JJ, Wade TJ, Keller KN. Impact of school-based health centers on students with mental health problems. Public Health Rep. 2008;123(6):768–80. doi:10.1177/003335490812300613.
- 66. Siegel LP, Krieble TA. Evaluation of schoolbased, high school health services. J Sch Health 1987;57(8):323–5. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.1987.tb03211.x.
- 67. Guo JJ, Wade TJ, Pan W, Keller KN. School-based health centers: cost-benefit analysis and impact on health care disparities. Am J Public Health 2010;100(9):1617–23. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.185181.
- 68. Roos PD, Paul HL, Nelson CW, Crooker M. A partial benefit: cost analysis of one school health room. J Sch Health 1984;54(4):162–6. doi:10.1111/j.1746–1561.1984.tb08803.x.
- 69. Wang LY, Vernon-Smiley M, Gapinski MA, Desisto M, Maughan E, Sheetz A. Costbenefit study of school nursing services. JAMA Pediatr. 2014;168(7):642–8. doi:10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2013.5441.
- Hutchinson P, Carton TW, Broussard M, Brown L, Chrestman S. Improving adolescent health through school-based health centers in post-Katrina New Orleans. Children and Youth Serv Rev. 2012;34(2):360–8. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.11.005.
- Svebak S, Jensen EN, Gotestam KG. Some health effects of implementing school nursing in a Norwegian high school: a controlled study. J Sch Nurs. 2008;24(1):49–54. doi:10.1177/1059840508024 0010801.
- 72. Wade TJ, Mansour ME, Line K, Huentelman T, Keller KN. Improvements in health-related quality of life among school-based health center users in elementary and middle school. Ambul Pediatr. 2008;8(4):241–9. doi:10.1016/j.ambp.2008.02.004.
- Borge AM, Manongi R, Masatu MC, Klepp K-I. Status and visions for the school health service as reported by local health care workers in Northern Tanzania. East Afr J Public Health 2008;5(2):79–85. PMID:19024415.
- 74. Gibson EJ, Santelli JS, Minguez M, Lord A, Schuyler AC. Measuring school health center impact on access to and quality of primary care. J Adolesc Health 2013;53(6):699–705. doi:10.1016/j. jadohealth.2013.06.021.

- 75. Strolin-Goltzman J. The relationship between school-based health centers and the learning environment. J Sch Health 2010;80(3):153–9. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2009.00480.x.
- Zaghloul AA, Abou El Enein NY, Abdel Hameed AY, Shaheen M. Pattern of utilization of the school health insurance programme in Alexandria. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 2006;81(3–4):223–40. PMID:17382062.
- 77. Frikha Jarraya M, Ben Abdelaziz A, Ghedira A, Ghannem H. Attentes des adolescents vis-à-vis des services de santé scolaire à Sfax, Tunisie [Adolescents' expectations with regard to school health services in Sfax, Tunisia]. Sante Publique 2004;16(3):447–58. doi:10.3917/spub.043.0447 (in French).
- Afifi M. Adolescents' use of health services in Alexandria, Egypt: association with mental health problems. East Mediterr Health J. 2004;10(1–2):64–71. PMID:16201710.
- Kumar R, Prinja S, Lakshmi PVM. Health care seeking behavior of adolescents: comparative study of two service delivery models. Indian J Pediatr. 2008;75(9):895–9. doi:10.1007/s12098-008-0098-2.
- Borges G, Benjet C, Medina-Mora ME, Orozco R, Familiar I, Nock MK et al. Service use among Mexico City adolescents with suicidality. J Affect Disord. 2010;120(1–3):32–9. doi:10.1016/j. jad.2009.04.008.
- Otwombe K, Dietrich J, Laher F, Hornschuh S, Nkala B, Chimoyi L et al. Health-seeking behaviours by gender among adolescents in Soweto, South Africa. Glob Health Action 2015;8:25670. doi:10.3402/gha.v8.25670.
- Abdulla HH, Khaleel MAW, Saadoon NY. Evaluation of school health services for primary school students provided by primary health care centers in Holy Karbala. Indian J Public Health Res Dev. 2018;9(2):96–100. doi:10.5958/0976– 5506.2018.00099.2.
- Ardahan M, Erkin O. The opinions of private and public school teachers regarding school nurses. J Pak Med Assoc. 2018;68(5):753–8. PMID:29885176.
- 84. Salehi S, Abedi H, Ghasemi T. Achieving the standard of the school health nursing process in elementary schools of Kerman, Iran. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res. 2012;17(3):200–4. PMID:23833612.

- 85. Yoo IY, Yoo MS, Lee GY. Self-evaluated competencies of school nurses in Korea. J Sch Health 2004;74(4):144–6. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2004. tb06618.x.
- Dibakwane ST, Peu MD. Experiences of school health nurses regarding the provision of the school health service delivery in the Tshwane district. Afr J Prim Health Care Fam Med. 2018;10(1):e1–e8. doi:10.4102/phcfm.v10i1.1807.
- 87. de Oliveira FPSL, Vargas AMD, Hartz Z, Dias S, Ferreira EFE. Percepções de alunos do ensino fundamental e médio sobre o Programa Saúde na Escola: um estudo de caso em Belo Horizonte, Brasil. [Elementary and lower secondary school students' perceptions of the Health at School programme: a case study in Belo Horizonte, Brazil]. Cien Saude Colet. 2018;23(9):2891–8. doi:10.1590/1413-81232018239.16582018 (in Portuguese).
- Silva UOA, Nascimento GL, Santos IK, Azevedo KPM, Santos CF, Knackfuss MI et al. Health program in a Brazilian school. Salud Publica Mex. 2017;59(1):28–33. doi:10.21149/8412.
- Baggio MA, Berres R, Gregolin BPS, Aikes S. Implantação do programa saúde escolar no município de Cascavel, Paraná: relato de enfermeiras [Introduction of the school health program in the city of Cascavel, Paraná State: report of nurses]. Rev Bras Enferm. 2018;71(suppl. 4):1540–7. doi:10.1590/0034-7167-2017-0188 (in Portuguese).
- 90. Brasil EGM, da Silva RM, da Silva MRF, Rodrigues DP, Quieroz MVO. A promoção da saúde do adolescente e o programa saúde escolar: complexidade na articulação saúdeeducação [Adolescent health promotion and the school health program: complexity in the articulation of health and education]. Rev Esc Enferm USP. 2017;51:e03276. doi:10.1590/s1980-220x2016039303276 (in Portuguese).
- Leite CT, Machado MdFAS, Vieira RP, Marinho MNAdSB, Monteiro CFdS et al. O programa de saúde escolar: percepções de professores [The school health program: teachers' perceptions]. Invest Educ Enferm. 2015;33(2):280–7. doi:10.17533/ udea.iee.v33n2a10 (in Portuguese).

- 92. Peu MD, Mataboge S, Ngunyulu R, Mulaudzi FM, Moloko Phiri SS. The challenges experienced by healthcare providers with regard to the provision of school healthcare services in Tshwane Sub-District, Gauteng Province. Afr J Nurs Midwifery 2016;17(suppl.):S209–S2211. doi:10.25159/2520– 5293/304.
- 93. Resolution A/RES/44/25 adopted by the General Assembly on 20 November 1989. Convention on the rights of the child. In: Resolutions and Decisions adopted by the General Assembly during its forty-fourth session. Volume I: Resolutions and decisions, 19 September-29 December 1989. New York (NY): United Nations: 1989 (Supplement no. 49; https://research.un.org/ en/docs/ga/quick/regular/44).
- 94. UHC compendium. Health interventions for universal health coverage. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/ universal-health-coverage/compendium).
- 95. WHO guidelines for the health sector response to child maltreatment. Technical report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/who-guidelinesfor-the-health-sector-response-to-childmaltreatment).
- 96. Global standards for quality health-care services for adolescents: a guide to implement a standards-driven approach to improve the quality of health care services for adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization, UNAIDS; 2015 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/whoguidelines-for-the-health-sector-response-tochild-maltreatment).
- 97. Report of the commission on ending childhood obesity. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/end-childhood-obesity/ final-report/en/).
- WHO recommendations on child health: guidelines approved by the WHO Guidelines Review Committee. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/WHO-MCA-17.08).
- 99. Water, sanitation and hygiene interventions to prevent diarrhoea. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (www.who.int/elena/titles/wsh_diarrhoea/en/).

- 100. Maintaining essential health services: operational guidance for the COVID-19 context: interim guidance, 1 June 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332240).
- 101. Interventions on diet and physical activity: what works. Methodology. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https://www.who.int/ dietphysicalactivity/whatworks/en/).
- 102. WHO recommendations on adolescent health: guidelines approved by the WHO guidelines review committee. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/WHO-MCA-17.09).
- 103. Guideline: implementing effective actions for improving adolescent nutrition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who. int/nutrition/publications/guidelines/effectiveactions-improving-adolescent/en/).
- 104. Every woman, every child. The global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health (2016–2030). New York (NY): UN Women; 2015 (http://www.everywomaneverychild.org/ wp-content/uploads/2016/12/EWEC_Global_ Strategy_EN_inside_LogoOK_web.pdf).
- 105. Promoting physical activity in schools: an important element of a health-promoting school. WHO information series on school health document twelve. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/43733).
- 106. mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings. Version 2.0. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/mhgapintervention-guide---version-2.0).
- 107. INSPIRE handbook: action for implementing the seven strategies for ending violence against children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/inspirehandbook-action-for-implementing-theseven-strategies-for-ending-violence-againstchildren).
- 108. Adolescent job aid: a handy desk reference tool for primary level health workers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https:// www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/ documents/9789241599962/en/).

- 109. Sun protection: an essential element of healthpromoting schools. WHO information series on school health document seven. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002 (WHO/NPH/02.6, WHO/SCHOOL/02.1; https://www.who.int/ceh/ publications/cehessential/en/).
- 110. Promoting adolescent sexual and reproductive health through schools in low income countries: an information brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https://www.who.int/ maternal_child_adolescent/documents/who_ fch_cah_adh_09_03/en/).
- Ensuring human rights in the provision of contraceptive information and services: guidance and recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://www.who. int/reproductivehealth/publications/family_ planning/human-rights-contraception/en/).
- 112. Global health sector strategy on sexually transmitted infections 2016-2021: toward ending STIs. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/rtis/ghss-stis/en/).
- School-based violence prevention: a practical handbook. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/324930).
- 114. Creating an environment for emotional and social well-being: an important responsibility of a health promoting and child-friendly school. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42819).
- 115. WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive health outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://www. who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/ preventing_early_pregnancy/en/).
- 116. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. 2016 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/ guidelines/keypopulations-2016/en/).
- 117. Behaviour change techniques for promoting mental health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://www.who.int/mental_ health/mhgap/evidence/child/q13/en/).
- 118. World report on child injury prevention: summary. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/ child/injury/world_report/report/en/).

- 119. Child and adolescent injury prevention: a global call to action. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/43279).
- 120. Responding to intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women: WHO clinical and policy guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://www. who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/ violence/9789241548595/en/).
- Primary ear and hearing care training resource. Basic level. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 (https://www.who.int/pbd/deafness/ activities/hearing_care/basic.pdf?ua=1).
- 122. Deafness and hearing loss. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/deafness-and-hearing-loss).
- 123. Blindness and vision impairment. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/en/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/blindness-andvisual-impairment).
- 124. Childhood hearing loss: act now, here's how. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (WHO/NMH/NVI/16.1; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/204507).
- 125. Childhood hearing loss: strategies for prevention and care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/204632).
- 126. Guidelines for hearing aids and services for developing countries, September 2004, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43066).
- 127. Healthy nutrition: an essential element of a health-promoting school. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1998 (WHO/SCHOOL/98.4, WHO/HPR/HEP/98.3; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/63907).
- 128. Global routine immunization strategies and practices (GRISP): a companion document to the Global Vaccine Action Plan (GVAP). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/204500).
- 129. Summary of the WHO Position Paper on vaccines against human papillomavirus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/ immunization/policy/position_papers/hpv/en/).

- 130. WHO recommendations for routine immunization: a user's guide to the summary tables. Updated 4th October 2012. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://www.who.int/ publications/m/item/a-user-s-guide-whorecommendations-for-routine-immunization).
- 131. Reducing pain at the time of vaccination: WHO position paper – September 2015/ Réduction de la douleur au moment de la vaccination. Note de synthèse: position de l'OMS – Septembre 2015. Weekly epidemiological record/Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire 2015;90(39):505–16. (https://www.who.int/ immunization/policy/position_papers/reducing_ pain_vaccination/en/).
- 132. Autism spectrum disorders and other developmental disorders: from raising awareness to building capacity. Meeting report, Geneva, Switzerland 16–18 September 2013. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (WHO/MSD/MER/14.1; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/103312).
- 133. IMAI district clinician manual: hospital care adolescents and adults. Guidelines for the management of illnesses with limited resources. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https:// www.who.int/hiv/pub/imai/imai2011/en/).
- 134. Care for child development: improving the care of young children. Geneva: World Health Organization, UNICEF; 2012 (https://www.who.int/ maternal_child_adolescent/documents/care_ child_development/en/).
- Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789241599931).
- 136. Scaling up care for mental, neurological and substance use disorders. mhGAP: Mental Health Gap Action Programme. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/43809).
- 137. WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control: guidelines for implementation: Article 5.3, Article 8, Articles 9 and 10, Article 11, Article 12, Article 13, Article 14. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://www.who.int/fctc/ treaty_instruments/adopted/guidel_2011/en/).

- 138. Tobacco use prevention: an important entry point for the development of health-promoting schools. WHO information series on school health document five. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1999 (WHO/SCHOOL/98.5, WHO/HPR/HEP/98.5; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/65608).
- 139. Toolkit for delivering the 5A's and 5R's brief tobacco interventions to TB patients in primary care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://www.who.int/tobacco/publications/ smoking_cessation/9789241506946/en/).
- 140. Preventing youth violence: an overview of the evidence. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/181008).
- 141. INSPIRE: seven strategies for ending violence against children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/inspire-seven-strategies-forending-violence-against-children).
- 142. Brief sexuality-related communication: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/sexual_health/sexuality-relatedcommunication/en/).
- 143. Preventing HIV/AIDS/STI and related discrimination: an important responsibility of health-promoting schools. WHO information series on school health document six. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1999 (WHO/ SCHOOL/98.6, WHO/HPR/HEP/98.6; https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/66225).
- 144. Responding to children and adolescents who have been sexually abused: WHO clinical guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/violence/clinical-response-csa/ en/).
- 145. WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection: module 12: adolescents and young adults. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHO/CDS/HIV/18.13; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/273172).

- 146. Updated recommendations on first-line and second-line antiretroviral regimens and postexposure prophylaxis and recommendations on early infant diagnosis of HIV. HIV treatment – interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/WHO-CDS-HIV-18.51).
- 147. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/ hiv/pub/arv/arv-2016/en/).
- 148. Community management of opioid overdose. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548816).
- 149. Prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: guidelines for primary health care in low resource settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/76173).
- 150. Updated guideline: paediatric emergency triage, assessment and treatment: care of critically ill children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/204463).
- 151. Save lives: a road safety technical package. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/save-lives-aroad-safety-technical-package).
- 152. World report on road traffic injury prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/world-reporton-road-traffic-injury-prevention).
- Burn prevention: success stories and lessons learned. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/97938).
- 154. The physical school environment: an essential element of a health-promoting school. WHO information series on school health document two. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42683).
- 155. Recommendations for management of common childhood conditions: evidence for technical update of pocket book recommendations: newborn conditions, dysentery, pneumonia, oxygen use and delivery, common causes of fever, severe acute malnutrition and supportive care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44774).

- 156. WHO-ICRC Basic emergency care: approach to the acutely ill and injured: participant workbook. Geneva: World Health Organization, International Committee of the Red Cross; 2018 (https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/basic-emergencycare-approach-to-the-acutely-ill-and-injured).
- 157. WHO guideline on the use of safety-engineered syringes for intramuscular, intradermal and subcutaneous injections in health care settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250144).
- 158. Persisting pain in children package: WHO guidelines on the pharmacological treatment of persisting pain in children with medical illnesses. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44540).
- 159. Pharmacological and nonpharmacological interventions for children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://www.who.int/ mental_health/mhgap/evidence/child/q7/en/).
- 160. Update of the Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP) guidelines for mental, neurological and substance use disorders, May 2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/ bitstreams/906642/retrieve).
- Asthma. In: World Health Organization [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (http:// www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs307/en/).
- 162. WHO recommendations on the management of diarrhoea and pneumonia in HIV-infected infants and children: integrated management of childhood illness (IMCI). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/44471).
- 163. Recognizing neglected tropical diseases through changes on the skin: a training guide for frontline health workers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHO/HTM/NTD/2018.03; https://www.who.int/neglected_diseases/ resources/9789241513531/en/).
- 164. Guidelines for the diagnosis, treatment and prevention of leprosy. New Delhi: WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2018 (https://www.who. int/lep/resources/9789290226383/en/).

- 165. Eradication of yaws: a guide for programme managers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHO/CDS/NTD/IDM/2018.01; https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/259902).
- 166. Dengue: guidelines for diagnosis, treatment, prevention and control. New edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (WHO/HTM/ NTD/DEN/2009.1; https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/44188).
- 167. Guidelines for the treatment of malaria, third edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/162441).
- 168. WHO informal consultation on fever management in peripheral health care settings: a global review of evidence and practice. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://www.who.int/malaria/publications/ atoz/9789241506489/en/).
- 169. Guidance for national tuberculosis programmes on the management of tuberculosis in children, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://www.who.int/tb/ publications/childtb_guidelines/en/).
- 170. Treating measles in children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1996 (https://www.who. int/immunization/programmes_systems/ interventions/TreatingMeaslesENG300.pdf).
- 171. Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/gender_rights/srhr-women-hiv/ en/).
- 172. Guidelines for an integrated approach to the nutritional care of HIV-infected children (6 months-14 years). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https://www.who.int/nutrition/ publications/hivaids/9789241597524/en/).
- 173. Guideline: updates on the management of severe acute malnutrition in infants and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241506328).
- 174. WHO guidance note: comprehensive cervical cancer prevention and control: a healthier future for girls and women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/78128).

- 175. Recommendation on 36 months isoniazid preventive therapy to adults and adolescents living with HIV in resource-constrained and high TB- and HIV-prevalence settings: 2015 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO/ HTM/TB/2015.15, WHO/HIV/2015.13; https://www. who.int/tb/publications/2015_ipt_update/en/).
- 176. Guidelines on post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV and the use of co-trimoxazole prophylaxis for HIV-related infections among adults, adolescents and children: recommendations for a public health approach: December 2014 supplement to the 2013 consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/145719).
- 177. Guideline: daily iron supplementation in infants and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/ micronutrients/guidelines/daily_iron_supp_ childrens/en/).
- 178. Guideline: daily iron supplementation in adult women and adolescent girls. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/ nutrition/publications/micronutrients/guidelines/ daily_iron_supp_womenandgirls/en/).
- 179. WHO guideline: use of multiple micronutrient powders for point-of-use fortification of foods consumed by infants and young children aged 6-23 months and children aged 2-12 years. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241549943).
- 180. Caregiver skills training for the management of developmental disorders. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/mental_ health/mhgap/evidence/child/q6/en/).
- 181. WHO guidelines on the management of health complications from female genital mutilation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https:// www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/fgm/ management-health-complications-fgm/en/).
- 182. World report on disability 2011. Geneva: World Health Organization, World Bank; 2011 (https:// www.who.int/teams/noncommunicablediseases/sensory-functions-disability-andrehabilitation/world-report-on-disability).

- 183. WHO global disability action plan 2014–2021: better health for all people with disability. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/199544).
- 184. Youth and road safety. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007 (https://www.who.int/ management/programme/ncd/Youth%20 and%20Road%20Safety.pdf).
- 185. WHO recommendations on adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://www. who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/ adolescent-srhr-who-recommendations/en/).
- 186. WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/9789241549912).
- 187. Standards for improving quality of maternal and newborn care in health facilities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who. int/maternal_child_adolescent/documents/ improving-maternal-newborn-care-quality/en/).
- 188. Dehne KL, Riedner G. Sexually transmitted infections among adolescents: the need for adequate health services. Geneva: World Health Organization, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ); 2005 (https://www.who.int/maternal_child_ adolescent/documents/9241562889/en/).
- 189. WHO guidelines for the treatment of Treponema pallidum (syphilis). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/ reproductivehealth/publications/rtis/syphilistreatment-guidelines/en/).
- 190. WHO guidelines for the treatment of Genital Herpes Simplex virus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/978924154987).
- WHO guidelines for the treatment of Chlamydia trachomatis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/rtis/chlamydia-treatmentguidelines/en/).
- 192. WHO guidelines for the treatment of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/rtis/gonorrhoea-treatmentguidelines/en/).

- 193. Guidelines for the management of conditions that are specifically related to stress. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://www.who.int/ mental_health/emergencies/stress_guidelines/ en/).
- 194. World Health Organization, War Trauma Foundation, World Vision International. Psychological first aid: guide for field workers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241548205).
- 195. Psychosocial interventions for treatment of behavioural disorders. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/mental_ health/mhgap/evidence/child/q5/en/).
- 196. mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://www.who.int/mental_ health/publications/mhGAP_intervention_guide/ en/).
- 197. Psychosocial interventions, treatment of emotional disorders. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/ mental_health/mhgap/evidence/child/q14/ en/#:~:text=Psychological%20interventions,%20 such%20as%20cognitive%20behavioural%20 therapy%20(CBT),,be%20offered%20for%20the%20 treatment%20of%20emotional%20disorders).
- 198. Antidepressants among adolescents with moderate-severe depressive disorder for whom psychosocial interventions have proven ineffective. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/mental_health/ mhgap/evidence/child/q11/en/).
- 199. Antidepressants (tricyclic antidepressants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors) in children 6–12 years of age with depressive episode/ disorder. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://www.who.int/mental_health/mhgap/ evidence/child/q10/en/).
- 200. Preventing suicide: a global imperative. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://www. who.int/mental_health/suicide-prevention/ world_report_2014/en/).
- 201. Pharmacological intervention for somatoform disorders in children and adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (www.who.int/ mental_health/mhgap/evidence/child/q9/en/).

- 202. Delivering quality health services: a global imperative for universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization, OECD, International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank; 2018 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/272465).
- 203. lodine thyroid blocking: guidelines for use in planning for and responding to radiological and nuclear emergencies. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/259510).
- 204. Health emergency and disaster risk management framework. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/hac/ techguidance/preparedness/en/).
- 205. Considerations for school-related public health measures in the context of COVID-19: annex to considerations in adjusting public health and social measures in the context of COVID-19, 10 May 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332052).
- 206. Personal protective equipment for use in a filovirus disease outbreak: rapid advice guideline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https:// www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/ebola/ personal-protective-equipment/en/).
- 207. Managing epidemics: key facts about major deadly diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/272442).
- 208. Foodborne disease outbreaks: guidelines for investigation and control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/43771).
- 209. Meningitis outbreak response in sub-Saharan Africa: WHO guideline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (WHO/HSE/PED/CED/14.5; https://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/ meningitis/guidelines2014/en/).
- 210. Response to measles outbreaks in measles mortality reduction settings. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (WHO/IVB/09.03; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/70047).

- 211. Cholera outbreak: assessing the outbreak response and improving preparedness. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (WHO/CDS/ CPE/ZFK/2004.4; https://www.who.int/cholera/ publications/OutbreakAssessment/en/).
- 212. First steps for managing an outbreak of acute diarrhoea. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (WHO_CDS_CSR_NCS_2003.7; https://www. who.int/cholera/publications/firststeps/en/).
- 213. School-based interventions for reducing deaths from suicide and suicide attempts among young people. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://www.who.int/mental_health/mhgap/ evidence/suicide/qn10/en/).
- 214. Preventing suicide: a resource for teachers and other school staff. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000 (WHO/MNH/MBD/00.3; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/66801).
- 215. Prevention of allergy and allergic asthma. Based on the WHO/WAO meeting on the prevention of allergy and allergic asthma, Geneva, 8–9 January 2002. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https://www.who.int/ respiratory/publications/allergy_prevention/en/).
- 216. Preventing violence through the development of safe, stable and nurturing relationships between children and their parents and caregivers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44088).
- 217. Humeniuk R, Henry-Edwards S, Ali R, Poznyak V, Monteiro MG, World Health Organization. The alcohol, smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST): manual for use in primary care. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44320).
- 218. Child and adolescent mental health policies and plans. WHO mental health policy and service guidance package - module 11. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005 (WM 34 2005ME-1; https://www.who.int/mental_health/policy/ services/essentialpackage1v11/en/).
- 219. Guideline: preventive chemotherapy to control soil-transmitted helminth infections in atrisk population groups. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://www.who.int/nutrition/ publications/guidelines/deworming/en/).

- 220. Guideline: alternative mass drug administration regimens to eliminate lymphatic filariasis. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO/HTM/NTD/PCT/2017.07; https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/259381).
- 221. WHO guideline: recommendations on digital interventions for health system strengthening. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/ publications/digital-interventions-healthsystem-strengthening/en/).
- 222. Digital implementation investment guide (DIIG): integrating digital interventions into health programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240010567).
- 223. Classification of digital health interventions v1.0: a shared language to describe the uses of digital technology for health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (WHO/RHR/19.06; https:// www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/ mhealth/classification-digital-healthinterventions/en/).
- 224. A framework for national health policies, strategies and plans. Draft 3 June 2010. World Health Organization (WHO) consultation document. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://www.paho. org/hq/dmdocuments/2010/NHStrategies_ WHOconsultation.pdf).

- 225. Strategizing national health in the 21st century: a handbook. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/250221).
- 226. Accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!): a manual to facilitate the process of developing national adolescent health strategies and plans. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://www.who.int/maternal_child_ adolescent/documents/adolescent-aa-manualah-strategies-plans/en/).
- 227. Making fair choices on the path to universal health coverage: final report of the WHO consultative group on equity and universal health coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://www.who.int/choice/documents/ making_fair_choices/en/).
- 228. Baltussen R, Jansen MP, Mikkelsen E, Tromp N, Hontelez J, Bijlmakers L et al. Priority setting for universal health coverage: we need evidenceinformed deliberative processes, not just more evidence on cost-effectiveness. Int J Health Policy Manag. 2016;5(11):615–8. doi:10.15171/ijhpm.2016.83
- 229. Tromp N, Baltussen R. Mapping of multiple criteria for priority setting of health interventions: an aid for decision makers. BMC Health Serv Res. 2012;12, art . 454. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-12-454.
- 230. A global review of policy, standards and guideline documentation for health promoting schools. Geneva: World Health Organization; in press.

Annex

GRADE methodologist, Guideline Development Group and External Review Group: affiliations, areas of expertise, and conflict of interest management

This annex provides additional information for the GRADE methodologist (Table A.I), Guideline Development Group (Table A.2) members and External Review Group members (Table A.3). Declarations of interest were documented for each of these individuals and assessed by the WHO Secretariat. The interests declared were not considered to hinder participation in the process to develop or review recommendations.

Table A.1. GRADE methodologist

#	SURNAME	First name	Gender	Based on nati and/ or country of r WHO region		Institution	Title	Declared interests	Decision on interests
1.	SIEGFRIED	Nandi	F	Africa	South Africa	Public Health Medical Specialist, Cape Town, South Africa	GRADE Methodologist	Funding dependent on completion of guideline	No further action required

#	SURNAME	First name	Gender	Based on nationality and or country of residency	ality and/ dency	Institution	Title	Other areas of expertise	Declared interests	Decision on interests
				WHO region	Country					
-	AFIFI	Rima	щ	Eastern Mediterranean /Americas	Lebanon/United States of America	Prevention Research Center for Rural Health, Department of Community and Behavioral Health, College of Public Health, University of Iowa, United States of America	Director	Violence; youth protective factors; programme evaluation/ academic	Роле	No further action required
2	BENZIAN	Habib	Σ	Europe/ Americas	Germany/ United States of America	College of Global Public Health, New York University, United States of America	Research Professor	Oral health; water, sanitation and hyglene; school health/academic	Once employed by Unilever on a toilet cleanliness project	No further action required
ო	BIRUNGI	Harriet	ш	Africa	Kenya	Population Council	Country Director	Sexual and reproductive health; medical anthropology/civil society programme implementer	None	No further action required
4	FERRAND	Rashida	ш	Africa/Europe	Zimbabwe/United Kingdom	London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and Biomedical Research, United Kingdom, and Training Institute, Harare, Zimbabwe	Professor	HIV and sexual and reproductive health/ academic clinical epidemiologist	None	No further action required
വ	GAETE	Jorge	ш	Americas	Chile	Department of Public Health and Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, Universidad de los Andes, Santiago, Chile	Chair	Mental health; substance use; violence/ academic	None	No further action required
9	GHARBI	Najat	ц	Eastern Mediterranean	Morocco	Division of School and University Health, Ministry of Health, Morocco	Head	School health/ programmes	None	No further action required
~	FRANSEN-JAIBI	Henrica (Hetty) J. M.	ш	Eastern Mediterranean/ Europe	Tunisia/ Netherlands	Occupational Therapy Programme, University of Tunis-El Manar, Tunisia, and World Federation of Occupational Therapists	Head; and delegate	Occupational therapy/ programmes	None	No further action required
8	LEVISON	Julia	ш	Americas	United States of America	School of Public Health, Boston University, United States of America	Project Manager	School health/young academic	None	No further action required
Ø	MAUGHAN	Erin D.	ш	Americas	United States of America	National Association of School Nurses, Silver Spring, Maryland, United States of America	Director of Research	School health/nursing; operational research/ programmes	None	No further action required
10	MURTHY	Gudlavalleti V.S.	Σ	South-East Asia	India	Indian Institute of Public Health, Hyderabad, Kavuri Hills, Madhapur – Hyderabab, India	Director	Hearing; vision/ programmes	None	No further action required
=	NALIPONGUIT	Ella Cecilia	Ŀ	Western Pacific	Philippines	Bureau of Learner Support Services, Department of Education, Manila, Philippines	Director	Education/programmes	None	No further action required

Table A.2. Guideline Development Group

#	SURNAME	First name	Gender	Gender Based on nationality and/ or country of residency	ality and/ dency	Institution	Title	Other areas of expertise	Declared interests	Decision on interests
				WHO region	Country					
12	RAHMAN	Atif	Σ	Eastern Mediterranean/ Europe	Pakistan/United Kingdom	Institute of Population Health Sciences, University of Liverpool, United Kingdom	Professor	School health; mental health/clinical academic	None	No further action required
13	sAEWYC Chair	Elizabeth	Ľ	Americas	Canada	School of Nursing, Division of Adolescent Director Health and Medicine, Vancouver, Canada	Director	School health/ nursing; vulnerable youth; operational research/ academic	None	No further action required
14	SAWYER	Susan	Ŀ	Western Pacific	Australia	Adolescent Health, University of Melbourne; and Centre for Adolescent Health at the Royal Children's Hospital, a WHO Collaborating Centre for Adolescent Health, Melbourne, Australia	Chair; and Director	Adolescent health; chronic diseases; risk behaviours; models of care/academic	e None	No further action required
15	SHI	Hui-Jing	щ	Western Pacific	China	Maternal, Child and Adolescent Health Department, School of Public Health, Fudan University, Shangai, China	Deputy Director	School health/academic None	None	No further action required
16	VIGAN	Sharlen	ш	Africa	Togo	World Bank Group, Lomé, Togo	Social Protection Specialist	School health; nutrition/programme implementation	None	No further action required

Table A.3. External Review Group

#	SURNAME	First name	Gender	Gender Based on nationality and/ or country of residency	ality and/ idency	Institution	Title	Declared interests	Decision on interests
				WHO region	Country				
-	DICK	Bruce	Σ	Europe	Switzerland	Independent Consultant, Geneva, Switzerland and Johns Hopkins School of Public Health, Baltimore, Maryland, United States of America	Consultant	None	No further action required
2	KJOLHEDE	Chris	Σ	Americas	United States of America	School-based Health Centers, Bassett Health Care Network, Co-director Cooperstown, New York, United States of America	Co-director	None	No further action required
ო	MATEMVU	Maziko	ш	Africa	Malawi	Her Liberty Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi	Programs Manager	None	No further action required
4	MORGAN	Antony	Σ	European	United Kingdom	Glasgow Caledonian University London, United Kingdom	Dean and Professor	None	No further action required
വ	PANIELLO CASTILLO	Blanca	٤	European	Spain	International Federation of Medical Students' Associations, Barcelona, Spain	Public Health Development Assistant	None	No further action required

Table A.2 contd

1 1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	٠	•	•	•
	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
1 1	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
1 1	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
· ·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · <td>٠</td> <td>•</td> <td>٠</td> <td>•</td> <td>٠</td> <td>•</td>	٠	•	٠	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
. .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
• •	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
• •	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•
• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

For more information, please contact: mncah@who.int

